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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements of China Cinda (HK)
Holdings Company Limited (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

Principal activity
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set

out in note 50 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Company's and its subsidiaries’ principal activities during the year.

Results
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the state of the Group's financial position

as at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 6 to 135.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable contribution totaling HK$3,081,977 (2023: HK$3,040,610).

Share capital
Details of movements of share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 44 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Directors
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Liang Senlin’
Huang Qiang
Shen Hongpu
Ren Li

Wang Jianli
Ren Chaoying?

The persons who were directors of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year (not including those
directors listed above) and up to the date of this report were:

Cao Yabing Chiu Lai Kuen, Susanna Lau Mun Chungs Sun Jiandong
Cheng Kinkong® Gong Yunfan Liang Senlin Xing Xiaoyu
Peng Gang* Lan Hong Tsung, David Shao Qi Zhang Weidong
Ku, Ka Lee Li Shu Pui Wu Jun Ma Wanming
Chen Bo Yiu Kwai Chu Zhang Qin Meng Dewei
Tang Lunfei® Zhou Lu Zhang Xunyuan Wang Xin

Yang Yingxun Chen YuQuan Chen Zhiwei Zeying Xu®
Zhang Yanshuai® He Qiang Lau Hon Chuen Yulin Peng®

Liu Bo Huang Limei Liu Jun” Liu Xiaoguang™

1 resigned effective from 28 November 2024
2 gppointed effective from 28 November 2024
3 resigned effective from 26 February 2025

4 resigned effective from 24 April 2024

5 resigned effective from 31 October 2024

6 appointed effective from 24 December 2024
7 resigned effective from 07 February 2024

8 appointed effective from 24 April 2024

9 appointed effective from 23 August 2024

10 appointed effective from 26 February 2025

There being no provision in the Company's articles of association for retirement by rotation, all existing
directors continue in office.



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors' interests in contracts

No director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Company to which the Company or any of the Company's holding
company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

Directors' interests in equity or debt securities
At no time during the year was the Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries

a parly to any arrangement to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Permitied indemnity provision
The Company's bye-laws provides that the directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the

assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty in their offices, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of
any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any directors. A Directors' Liability Insurance is in place to protect
the directors against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought against the directors.

Events after the reporting period
Details of the Group’s significant events after the reporting period are set out in note 53 to the consolidated

financial statements.

Auditors

During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as auditors of the Company and Emst & Young were
appointed by the directors to fill the casual vacancy so arising. A resolution for the reappointment of Emst &
Young as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Huang Qiang
Director

Hong Kong
30 April 2025
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independent auditor's report
To the sole member of China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited (the
"Company") and its subsidiaries (the "Group") set out on pages 6 to 135, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor's report thereon
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the report of the directors.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

in connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Independent auditor's report (continued)
To the sole member of China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial

statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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Independent auditor's report (continued)
To the sole member of China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

¢ Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the board of directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the planned

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

,,__\,«-»m

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
30 April 2025

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED $TATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
Year ended 31 Dé;embér 2024
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Interest income

Net gains on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Investment income

Revenue from sales of inventories

Commission and fee income

Other (losses)/gains, net

Interest expense

Purchase and changes in inventories
Commission and fee expense

Other operating expenses

Credit impairment losses

Asset impairment losses

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE SHARE OF RESULTS OF
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES, AND TAX

Share of results of associates and joint ventures

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Income tax expense
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Other equity instruments issued by a subsidiary
Non-controlling interests

Notes

o]

—
g - N N
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13
14
15

16

2024
HK$'000

16,499,937
5,061,161
6,759,393

907,488

1,428,333
(708,084)

29,938,228

(21,429,318)
(527,920)
(128,190)

(4,896,066)
(2,948,201)

(29,929,695)

8,633

470,081

478,614
(603,460)

(124,846)

(597,391)
501,861
(29,316)

(124,846)

The notes on pages 14 to 135 are an integral part of these financial statements.

2023
HK$'000

17,246,925

4,205,277
5,267,693
550,651
1,491,498
188,395

28,940,339

(19,959,007)
(593,802)
(148,342)

(4,341,753)
(3,074,698)

(963,778)
(29,081,380)

(141,041)

818,493

677,452

(452,170)

225,282

(128,077)
417,507

(64,148)

225,282
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CHINA CINDA (318 HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEM ENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)
31 Decemb?r 2@24 |2 d

> Notes 2024
T HK$'000

EQUITY

Share capital 44 24,975,487
Retained earnings 5,222,212
Reserves (2,440,552)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 27,757,147
Other equity Instruments issued by a subsidiary 45 7,422,026
Non-controlling interests 50 426,009
Total equity 35,605,272
Total equity and liabilities 661,507,215

The notes on pages 14 to 135 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors on 30 April 2025 and signed on behalf of the Board by:

Huang Qiang Ren Chaoying
Director Director

2023
HK$'000

24,975,487
6,069,306

{1,671,149)
28,373,644

7,422,026
455,415

37,251,085

675,163,161
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

21

22

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited (the "Company") is a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong. Its registered office and principal place of business are located at Floor
12, AIA Central, No. 1 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") were
involved in the following principal activities:

. investment holding;

. provision of banking and related financial services;

. provision of asset management and related financial services;

. provision of consulting and advisory business on finance and other financial services.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company's immediate and ultimate holding company is China Cinda
Asset Management Co., Ltd. ("China Cinda"), a company registered in the PRC and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "HKEX").

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for land
and buildings in property, plant and equipment, investment properties, precious metals in other assets,
certain financial investments which have been measured at fair value and financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and the
entities (including structured entities) directly or indirectly controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved if and only if the Company has all the following: (a) power over an investee, (b) exposure,
or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the investor's returns.

14




CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

22

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power,
including:

the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

the Group's voting and potential voting rights; and

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have
the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made,
including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date
of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group's
equity therein.

The carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition
plus the non-controlling interests' share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive
income and expenses of a subsidiary is attributed to the equity holders of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this resuits in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group
losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. The carrying amount of the non-controlling interests is adjusted
at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share of the subsidiary's identifiable net assets. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value
of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

15



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

22

23

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognizes the assets (including any goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost (including any components of other comprehensive income attributable to them),
and (iii) recognizes the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest, with any resulting difference being recognized as a gain or loss in profit or loss
attributable to the Group. When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by applicable
HKFRS Accounting Standards). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at
the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Classification, recognition and measurement of
financial assets or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or

a jointly controlied entity.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, which are applicable to
the Group for the first time in the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022

Amendments”)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback fransaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Amendments to
HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of
the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled in its
own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted
for as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its classification. The 2022
Amendments further clarify that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only
those with which an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification of that
liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-current liabilities that are
subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period.

16



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

23

24

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024
and concluded that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-current remained unchanged
upon initial application of the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have any impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not early applied any of the new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective for the accounting year ended 31 December 2024 in these
financial statements. Among these new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, the following are
expected to be relevant to the Group's financial statements upon becoming effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements?

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures?

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
and HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments’

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and HKAS 28 and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
Accounting Standards HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7'
—Volume 11

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026
2 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While a number of sections have
been brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18 infroduces new requirements for
presentation within the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are
required to classify all income and expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the five
categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to present
two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-defined performance
measures in a single note and introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of
Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable,
amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS
34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other HKFRS
Accounting Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with
earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is required. The Group is currently analysing
the new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of
the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS Accounting Standards.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public accountability and must have a parent
(ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated financial statements available for public use
which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is permitted. The Group is
currently considering the application of HKFRS 19 in the financial statements.

17



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

24

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of
Financial Instruments clarify the date on which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised
and introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through an
electronic payment system before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The amendments
clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial assets with environmental,
social and governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the amendments clarify the
requirements for classifying financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually linked
instruments. The amendments also include additional disclosures for investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to
opening retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods are
not required to be restated and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier application
of either all the amendments at the same time or only the amendments related to the classification of
financial assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

HKAS 28 (2011) and HKFRS 10 (Amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture. The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency
between the requirements in HKAS 28 (2011) and those in HKFRS 10, in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main consequence
of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognised when a transaction involves a business
(whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). if the assets do not meet the definition of a business, the
gain or loss is recognised by the investor only to the extent of the other investor's interests in the
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively and early application is
permitted. The application of the amendments will not have a material impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS
1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs 1G1, 1G14 and 1G20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other standards.
In addition, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does not
necessarily illustrate all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does
it create additional requirements. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that when a lessee has determined
that a lease liability has been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required
to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or [oss.
In addition, the amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9
and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

. HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the term “cost method” with “at
cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion of the definition of “cost method”.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the
Group’'s financial statements

18



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

25

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of
the equity voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parities parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive
income of associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates or joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in the associates or joint ventures, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group's investments in
associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained
interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity
method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over
the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is

recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred

is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired set of activities and assets
includes an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration

transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group's
previously heid equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable nest assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill arising on a business combination is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented separately in the consolidated statements of
financial position. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating
units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when, there is indication that the unit maybe impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill
is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in

subsequent periods.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its premises and investment properties, precious metals and certain financial
instruments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in its principal market, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market accessible by the Group at the measurement date.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservabie inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair vaiue is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that Is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person's family and that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.
or
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary

or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-empioyment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group; (If the Group is itself such a plan) and the
sponsoring employers of the post-employment benefit plan;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or fair value less accumulated depreciation and any

impairment [osses.

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amount, being
the fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated impairment losses and
subsequent accumulated depreciation. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that
the carrying amount does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values

at the end of the reporting period.

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of land and buildings is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which
case this increase is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously charged. A
decrease in net carrying amount arising on revaluation of an asset is recognised in profit or loss to the
extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, on the property revaluation reserve relating to a previous
revaluation of that asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued asset, the attributable
revaluation surplus is transferred to retained profits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost or revalued amounts to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives. The annual depreciation rates of each class of

property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Land and buildings 2.00% - 3.33%
Machinery and equipment 10.00% - 50.00%
Electronic equipment 6.67% - 50.00%
Motor vehicles 15.83% - 20.00%
Aircrafts 3.40%

Properties in the course of construction for supply of services or administrative purposes are carried
at cost, less any recognised impairment loss and borrowing cost capitalised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy. Such properties are reclassified to the appropriate category of property
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying amount and
the fair value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Aircraft are assessed for recoverability in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets, at each
reporting date or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicates that their carrying value
may not be recoverable. For the purposes of measuring an impairment loss, each aircraft is tested
individually by comparing its carrying amount to the higher of value in use and fair value less cost to
sell.

Value in use is determined as the total cash flows expected to be generated by an aircraft, discounted
at a market rate. Fair value is determined as an average of two professional valuations obtained from
independent appraisers. The review for recoverability has a level of subjectivity and requires the use
of judgement in the assessment of estimated future cash flows associated with the use of an aircraft
and its eventual disposition. Expected future cash flows are based on all relevant information available,
including the existing lease, current contracted rates for similar aircraft, residual values, economic
conditions, technology, airline demand for a particular type of aircraft, appraisal data and industry
trends, and assumptions about downtime between re-leasing and the amount of re-leasing costs.

Residual values of property, plant and equipment are determined based on estimated values at the
end of the useful lives of aircraft assets, which are supported by estimates received from independent
appraisers. Generally, the residual value of aircraft is estimated at 15% of original manufacture cost.
Management may, at its discretion, make exceptions to this policy when, in its judgement, the residual
value estimated pursuant to this policy does not appear to reflect current expectations of residual
values.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment {continued)

Maodifications or improvements to property, plant and equipment are normally expensed. Where such
maodifications or improvements materially improve the value of the asset or extend its useful life, these
are capitalised and depreciated over the economic life of the asset.

Maintenance right assets
For maintenance right asset there are two types detailed below, End of Lease ("EOL") leases and

Cash Maintenance ("MR") leases:

EOL Leases

Under EOL Leases, the lessee is obligated to comply with certain return conditions at redelivery which
require the lessee to perform lease end maintenance work or make cash compensation payments at
the end of the lease to bring the aircraft into a specified maintenance condition. Maintenance right
asset in EOL Leases represent the difference in value between the contractual right to receive an
aircraft in an improved maintenance condition together with EOL cash compensation as compared to
the maintenance condition on the acquisition date. Maintenance right liabilities exist in EOL Leases
if, on the acquisition date, the maintenance condition of the aircraft is greater than the contractual
return condition in the lease and the Group is required to pay the lessee in cash for the improved
maintenance condition. Maintenance right assets and liabilities, net are recorded as a separate
component in property, plant and equipment on the consolidated statement of financial position.

When the Group has recorded maintenance right assets with respect to EOL Leases, the following
accounting scenarios exist: (i) the aircraft is returned at lease expiry in the contractually specified
maintenance condition without any cash payment to the Group by the lessee, an aircraft improvement
is recorded to the extent the improvement is substantiated and deemed to meet the Group's
capitalisation policy and any remaining maintenance right asset is then fully amortised, and (ii) the
lessee pays the Group cash compensation at lease expiry, an aircraft improvement is recorded to the
extent the improvement is substantiated and deemed to meet the Group's capitalisation policy, the
maintenance right asset is then amortised and any excess is recognised as end of lease income
consistent with the Group's existing policy. Any aircraft improvement will be depreciated over the
remaining useful life of the aircraft. When the Group has recorded maintenance right liabilities with
respect to EOL Leases, the following accounting scenarios exist: (i) the aircraft is returned at lease
expiry in the contractually specified maintenance condition without any cash payment by the Group to
the lessee, the maintenance right liability is amortised at lease expiry and end of lease income is
recognised, and (ii) the Group pays the lessee cash compensation at lease expiry, the maintenance
right liability is amortised and any difference is recognised as end of lease income.

Cash MR Leases

Under Cash MR Leases, the lessee is required to make periodic payments to the Group for
maintenance based upon usage of the aircraft. When qualifying major maintenance is performed
during the lease term, the Group is required to reimburse the lessee for qualifying costs associated
with such maintenance. Atthe end of lease, the Group is entitled to retain any cash receipts in excess
of the required reimbursements to the lessee. Maintenance right asset in Cash MR Leases represent
the right to receive an aircraft in an improved condition during the lease term relative to the actual
condition on the acquisition date. The aircraft is improved by the performance of qualifying major
maintenance paid for by the lessee who is reimbursed by the Group from the periodic maintenance
payments that ii receives. Maintenance right asset, net will be' recorded in property, plant and
equipment on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Maintenance right assets (continued)

Cash MR Leases (continued)

Where the Group has recorded maintenance right assets with respect to Cash MR Leases and when
the Group has reimbursed the lessee for the performance of qualifying major maintenance, the
maintenance right asset is derecognised and an aircraft improvement is recorded. Under Cash MR
Leases, the Group does not record a maintenance right liability because it has no obligation to make
payments to the lessee, beyond reimbursement of maintenance payment liabilities or payment of
lease incentive obligations, which are already recorded in the consolidated financial statements.

Accrued maintenance liabilities

Accrued maintenance liabilities received in cash from lessees are recognised as maintenance
liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial position (included in other liabilities) in recognition
of the contractual commitment to either refund such receipts or to hold them for future scheduled
maintenance work to be performed thereafter. Maintenance work performed by lessees will not be
capitalised, but instead will be recorded as a refund of maintenance reserve and shown as a deduction
from the payments by the Group for maintenance liabilities account on the consolidated statement of
financial position. Lessor contributions and top-ups to maintenance reserves will be recorded as a
leasing expense (over the term of the lease), except where a liability exists by virtue of having
purchased an aircraft with leases attached including an obligation to refund maintenance reserve
payments made to date by the iessee, or where they are deemed to be modifications/improvements
that materially improve the value of the asset/lease or extends its useful life whereby it wouid be
capitalised and depreciated over the respective life of the asset or remaining term of the lease. When
flight equipment is sold the portion of accrued liability which is not assigned to the buyer is recognised
as a gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment. On lease termination, all amounts not
refunded to the lessees are recorded as revenue.

Lease premium asset

Lease premium asset represents the value of an acquired lease where the contractual rent payments
are above the market at the date of acquisition. This asset is amortised over the expected term of the
related lease agreement and recorded as a non-cash reduction in lease rental income.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied properties or inventories, the deemed
cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a property
occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group
accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under "Property, plant and equipment”
for owned property up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with
the policy stated under "Property, plant and equipment” above.
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives include computer software systems and others, core deposits

intangible, and credit card customer relationships.

An intangible asset is measured initially at cost. When an intangible asset with a finite useful life is
available for use, its original cost less net residual value and any accumulated impairment losses is
amortised over its estimated useful life using the straight-line method. The Group reviews the useful
life and amortisation method at the end of each reporting period, and makes adjustments when
necessary. The useful life of each intangible asset is as follows:

Computer software systems and others 3 -5years
Core deposits intangible 20 years
Credit card customer relationships 10 years

Intangible assets, including trading rights and trade names, with indefinite useful lives are not
amortised.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of intangible asset are measured at the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are
recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Intangibie assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested
for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. In assessing value-
in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset {(or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is,
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the
asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset. The Group's lease liabilities are
included in other liabilities.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of motor
vehicles (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of
low-value assets to leases of office equipment that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases {(continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification)
each of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over
the lease terms and is Included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income.
Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee, are accounted for as finance leases.

Financial instruments
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair
value' through other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group's business model for managing them. With the exception of
trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for "Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest ("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business

model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial
assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. Loans and advances and other financial
assets are recognised when cash is advanced to the counterparty.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method
and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income, foreign exchange revaluation
and impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. Interest income
are recognised as investment income in the consoclidated statement of profit or loss. The remaining
fair value changes are recognised in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive Income (equity investments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income when they meet the
definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.
The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. Dividends are recognised as investment income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably,
except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the, financial
asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

This category includes derivative instruments and equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value profit or loss are also recognised as net gains
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when the right of payment has been established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured refiably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated
from the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic characteristics and risks are
not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative
would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through
profit or toss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required
or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified
in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated statement of financial

position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a
"pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at

the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses ("ECLs") for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to

the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective
of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a significant financing component or
when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach (continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a significant financing component and lease
receivables, the Group chooses its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the Group's financial liabilities are generally classified into financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss or other financial liabilities.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing
in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group
that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of
profit or loss does hot include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss are
designated at the Initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or
losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from the Group's own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest

method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost,
with gain or loss arising from derecognition or amortisation recognised in consolidated statement of

profit or loss.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in interest expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be
made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment
when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance
with the policy as set out in "Impairment of financial assets"; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

An agreement between the Group (an existing borrower) and an existing lender to replace the original
financial liability with a new financial liability with substantially different terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts and interest rate
swaps, to hedge its foreign currency risk and interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative financial
instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair
value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, except for the effective portion of hedges, which is recognised
in other comprehensive income and later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects

profit or loss.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

. fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised
asset or liability or an unrecognised firm commitment; or
. cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either

attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly
probable forecast transaction, or a foreign currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment;

or
. hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge
refationship to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting, the risk management objective
and its strategy for undertaking the hedge.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting (continued)

The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the nature of
the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the
hedge effectiveness requirements (including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how
the hedge ratio is determined). A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of
the following effectiveness requirements:

. There is "an economic relationship” between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.

. The effect of credit risk does not "dominate the value changes” that result from that economic
relationship.

. The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of

the hedged item that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument
that the Group actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

Hedges which meet all the qualifying strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as effective fair value hedges
are recognised in the income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged
asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or is terminated for reasons
other than derecognition, e.g. due to repayment of the hedged item, the unamortised carrying value
adjustment (the difference between the carrying value of the hedged item at the time of termination
and the value at which it would have been carried had the hedge never existed) to the hedged item is
amortised to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over the remaining life of the hedged item by
the effective interest method. If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised carrying value
adjustment is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Hedges of a net investment

Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised
in other comprehensive income while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation, the
cumuiative value of any such gains or losses recorded in equity is transferred to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories included properties under development for sale which are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of land, development expenditure, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy, and other attributable expenses. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for properties for sale less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Properties under development for sales are
transferred to completed properties held for sales upon completion. Properties under development
for sales are transferred to property, plant and equipment when there is a change in use, evidenced
by commencement of owner-occupation which the carrying amount is carried forward and transferred
to property, plant and equipment as the cost.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,

which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowing pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible
for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.

Precious metals
Precious metals comprise gold. Precious metals are initially recognised and subsequently re-
measured at fair value. Mark-to-market gains or losses on precious metals are included in other

income and gains.

Loans granted under repurchase agreements

Financial assets that have been purchased under agreements with a commitment to resell at a specific
future date are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. The cost (including
interests) of purchasing such assets is presented under "loans granted under repurchase agreements”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between the purchasing price and
reselling price is recognised as interest income during the term of the agreement using the effective
interest method.

Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements

Financial assets sold subject to agreements with a commitment to repurchase at a specific future date
are not derecognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. The proceeds (including
interests) from selling such assets are presented under “financial assets sold under repurchase
agreements” in the consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between the selling
price and repurchasing price is recognised as interest expense during the term of the agreement using

the effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents refer to short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation related to a contingency such as
action at law, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation,
and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of each reporting period, taking into account factors pertaining to a
contingency such as the risks, uncertainties and time value of money. Where the effect of the time
value of money is material, the amount of the provision is determined by discounting the related future

cash outflows.

Where all or some of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by a
third party, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset only when it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received, and the amount of reimbursement recognised does not exceed the
carrying amount of the provision.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency transactions

items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the "functional currency").
The consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the Group's functional and

presentation currency.

in preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other
than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary ecanomic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retransiation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Group's net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign
operation.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are
included in profit or loss for the period except for exchange differences arising on the retransiation of
non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange differences are also recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at a rate that approximates the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of foreign currency translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred
to the customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would
be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing component which provides the Group a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the interest
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Provision of management services

The Group earns management fee income from management services which the Group provides to
the customers. For those services that are provided over a period of time, management fee income
is accrued in accordance with the actual progress. For other management services, property
management fee income is recognized when the services are completed.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the
rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right to receive payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and the
amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Commission and fee income

The Group earns commission and fee income from securities and futures brokerage business, fund
and asset management business, consultancy and financial advisory business, banking business, etc.
which the Group provides to customers. For those services that are provided over a period of time,
commission and fee income are accrued in accordance with the actual progress. Loan syndication
fees are recognised as revenue when the related syndication arrangement has been completed and
the Group has retained no part of the loan package for itself or has retained a part at the same effective
interest rate as applicable to the other participants. For other services, commission and fee income
are recognised when the transactions are completed.

Operating lease income

Lease revenues are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Floating rental are
recognised on a straight-line basis over the period that the rentals are fixed and accruable. Lease
incentives are recognised as a reduction of the total iease revenue on a non-cash receipt basis over
the term of the lease. The Group as lessor, leases aircraft principally under operating leases and
records rental income ratably over the life of the lease as it is earned.
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Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on temporary differences between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
an associate when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductibie temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
and an associate, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
oh a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Fiduciary activities

The Group commonly acts as a trustee, or in other fiduciary capacities, that result in its holding or
managing assets on behalf of individuals, trusts and other institutions. These assets and any gains
or losses arising thereon are excluded from these consolidated financial statements, as they are not

assets of the Group.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

The Group contributes to defined contribution retirement schemes under either recognised ORSO
schemes or MPF schemes that are available to the Group's employees. Contributions to the schemes
by the Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries for the
ORSO schemes and in accordance with the MPF rules for MPF schemes. The retirement benefit
scheme costs are charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as incurred and represent
contributions payable by the Group to the schemes. Contributions made by the Group that are
forfeited by those employees who leave the ORSO scheme prior to the full vesting of their entittement
to the contributions are used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions or to meet its
expenses under the trust deed of the ORSO schemes.

The assets of the schemes are held in independently-administered funds separate from those of the
Group.

Leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and sick leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for unused annual leave and the amount of sick leave
expected to be paid as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Compensated absences other than sick leave and special approved annual leaves are non-
accumulating; they lapse if the current period's entitlement is not used in full. Except for unexpired
annual leaves, they do not entitle employees to a cash payment for unused entitlement on leaving the

Group.

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a liability when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made. Liabilities for bonus plans that are expected to be settled longer than twelve
months will be discounted if the amounts are significant.

Defined benefit plan

A subsidiary of the Group operates a defined benefit plan which is unfunded. The cost of providing
benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation

method.

Remeasurements arising from actuarial gains and losses of the defined benefit plan, is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to
retained earnings through other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur.
Remeasurements are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benefit plan (continued)

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier of:

. the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
. the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs.

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The
Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under "interest expense”
and "other operating expenses" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss by function:

. service costs comprising current service costs, past service costs, gains and losses on
curtailments and non-routine settlements;
. net interest expense.

Government grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply

with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which
the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase, construct
or otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over
the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already Incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised as a provision but is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will
then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable. When the inflow is virtually certain, it will be recognised
as an asset.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that
the directors have made in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and caiculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxation arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group's
deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors have determined that the presumption that
the carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. Accordingly, deferred taxation in relation to the Group's investment
properties has been measured in accordance with the general principles set out in HKAS 12.

Control on structured entities

The Group's management needs to assess whether the Group has the power over a structured entity
and is exposed to significant variable return of the structured entities. If such power and exposure
exist, the Group should consolidate such structured entities. The Group had consolidated certain
structured entities including private equity funds, trusts, and asset management plans. To determine
whether to consolidate these entities, the Group uses the following judgements:

For the private equity funds where the Group is involved as both general partner and limited partner
and has power over the structured entities, the Group assesses whether the combination of
investments it held together with its remuneration creates exposure to variability of returns from the
activities of the funds that is of such significance that it indicates that the Group is a principal. The
funds shall be consolidated if the Group acts in the role of principal.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (continued)
Control on structured entities (continued)

For the trusts or asset management plans where the Group is involved as manager or trustee and
also as investor, and has power over the structured entities, the Group assesses whether the
combination of investments it held together with its remuneration creates exposure to variability of
returns from the activities of such trusts or asset management plans that is of such significance that it
indicates that the Group is a principal. The trusts or asset management plans shall be consolidated
if the Group acts in the role of principal.

For the private equity funds, trusts and asset management plans, to which the Group has power over
the structured entities and provides financial guarantees, the Group has an obligation to fund the
losses beyond its investments, if any, in accordance with the guarantee agreements. The Group
concludes that its exposure to variability of returns is of such significance that these structured entities
shall be consolidated.

The Group reassesses whether it controls a structured entity if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control as listed in Note 2.3 Basis of
consolidation.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of financial investments

The Group reviews its investment portfolio to assess impairment at least on an annual basis. The
measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets requires
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are
driven by a number of factors, changes in which result in different levels of allowance. The Group's
ECL calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions.

The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash
flows are reviewed regularly.

Impairment of interests in associates and non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for interests in associates and
all non-financial assets (including the right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Interests in associates and other non- financial assets are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm's length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication that the asset may be
impaired. This requires an estimate of the present value of future cash flows for the asset group or
portfolio of assets allocated to goodwill. When estimating the present value of future cash flows, the
Group needs to anticipate future cash flows from the asset group or portfolio of assets, and select the
appropriate discount rate to determine the present value of future cash flows.

Impairment of Properties held for sale

The Group measures properties held for sale on the balance sheet date based on the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The calculation of net realisable value requires the use of assumptions and
estimates. If management revises the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business and
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale, it will affect
the estimation of the net realisable value of properties held for sale, and the difference will have an
impact on the impairment for properties held for sale.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

The fair value of derivative financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets are determined
by using valuation techniques. Valuation techniques used include discounted cash flows analysis and
models with built-in functions available in externally acquired financial analysis or risk management
systems widely used by the industry such as option pricing models. To the extent practical, the models
use observable data. In addition, valuation adjustments may be adopted if factors such as credit risk
are not considered in the valuation models. Management judgement and estimates are required for
the selection of appropriate valuation parameters, assumptions and modeling techniques. Further
details will be discussed in Note 5.

Fair value of financial instruments

The Group uses valuation technique for financial instruments which are not quoted in an active market.
Valuation techniques include the use of discounted cash flows analysis, option pricing models or other
valuation, methods as appropriate. To the extent practical, models use observable data. However,
areas such as credit risk of the Group and counterparties, volatilities and correlations require
management to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the
estimated fair vaiue of financial instruments.

Fair value of investment properties and property, plant and equipment

Investment properties and certain property, plant and equipment of the Group are stated at fair value
or revalued amount based on the valuations performed by independent professional valuers. In
determining the fair value, the vaiuers have used a method of valuation, which involves certain
estimates of market conditions. In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the assumptions used in the valuation are reflective
of the current market conditions. Changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair
values of the Group's investment properties and the relevant property, plant and equipment and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.
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4. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. The capital structure of the Group
consists of net debt, which includes borrowings and bonds net of cash and cash equivalents of
HK$124,230,997,000 (2023: HK$120,859,130,000) and equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves of HK$27,757,147,000 (2023:
HK$29,373,644,000).

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a continuous basis by taking into account
the cost of capital and the risk associated with capital. The Group will balance its overall capital
structure through issuance of new debts and redemption of existing debts.

In particular for Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited ("NCB") which is subject to capital requirements
imposed by the HKMA and the National Financial Regulatory Authority ("NFRA"), during the current
and prior years, it has complied with all the statutory capital requirements in respect of banking
operations.

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to financial risks as a result of engaging in a variety of business activities. The
principal financial risks are credit risk, market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk) and
liquidity risk. This note summarises the Group's exposures to these risks, as well as its objectives,
risk management governance structure, policies and processes for managing and the methods used
to measure these risks.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's risk management governance structure is designed to cover all business processes and
ensure various risks are properly managed and controlled in the course of conducting business. The
Group has a robust risk management organisational structure with a comprehensive set of policies
and procedures to identify, measure, monitor and control various risks that may arise. These risk
management policies and procedures are regularly reviewed and updated to reflect changes in
markets and business strategies. Various groups of risk takers assume their respective
responsibilities for risk management.

The board of directors, representing the interests of shareholders, is the highest decision-making
authority of the Group and has the ultimate responsibility for risk management.

Within this framework, the Group's senior management has overall responsibility for managing all
aspects of risks, including implementing risk management strategies, initiatives and credit policies and
approving internal policies, measures and procedures relating to risk management. The risk
management department and other relevant functional units are responsible for monitoring financial
risks.

For NCB, it has a separate independent governance structure catering for the needs of the banking
business, to assist the Group's senior management to manage the risk.

The NCB's Board of Directors (the "NCB Board") holds the ultimate responsibility for the NCB's overall
risk management. It establishes a sound risk culture and determines the risk management strategies
and the risk management structure.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

To achieve the NCB's goals in risk management, the NCB Board sets up the Risk Management
Committee, which comprises of Independent Non-executive Directors, to oversee the NCB's various
types of risks, review and approve the high-level risk management policies. Also, Credit Approval
Committee is set up under the Risk Management Committee to review or approve credit applications
and credit management related matters exceeding the Chief Executive's authority or as required by
the policy and monitoring the credit activities of the NCB.

Credit Approval Specialized Committee set up by the Chief Executive is responsible for approving
credit business within the authorisation, Also, according to the risk management strategies established
by the NCB Board, risk management policies and controls are devised and reviewed regularly by
relevant departments and respective management committees set up by the Chief Executive.

The risk management units develop policies and procedures for identifying, measuring, evaluating,
monitoring, reporting and controlling credit risk, market risk, operational risk, reputation risk, legal and
compliance risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, strategic risk, technology risk, conduct risk and climate
risk; set appropriate risk limits; and continually monitor risks.

The Audit Department conducts independent reviews on the adequacy and effectiveness of risk
management policies and controls to ensure that the NCB is operating according to the established

policies, procedures and limits.

independence is crucial to effective risk management. To ensure the independence of risk
management units and Audit Department, risk management units and Chief Risk Officer report directly
to the Risk Management Committee and the Audit Department reports directly to the Audit Committee
respectively. Both committees are specialised committees set up by the NCB Board arid all members
are directors of the NCB.

Credit risk
Credit risk management

Credit risk is the risk of loss that a customer or counterparty is unable to or unwilling to meet its
contractual obligations. The Group's major credit risks mainly arise from financial assets at amortised
cost, loans and advances to customers and other guarantees.

The Group implements the following measures to mitigate credit risk:

. referencing to external credit rating information to manage the credit quality of counterparties,
and selecting counterparties with acceptable credit quality and repayment ability to balance
credit risk and return; and

. obtaining effective collateral from counterparties to mitigate risks.

In particular, the Group is primarily subject to the credit risk arising from its loans and advances to
customers, and its debt securities and derivatives, which are managed as follows:

Loans and advances to customers

Different credit approval and control procedures are adopted according to the level of risk associated
with the customer, counterparty or transaction. All credit applications are subject to thorough risk
assessment and proper approval. In general, most of the credit applications will be reviewed and
assessed by independent officer(s) of risk management unit(s) before approval, with exceptions given
to designated advances which satisfy certain conditions. After funding are being drawn, these
designated advances will be randomly reviewed by designated units which are independent from the
front line business units.

45



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit risk management (continued)

Loans and advances to customers (continued)

For NCB, obligor ratings (In terms of probability of default) and facility ratings (in terms of loss given
default) are assigned to credit applications for non-retail exposures to support credit approval. Retail
internal rating systems are deployed in the risk assessment of retail credit transactions, including small
business retail exposures, residential mortgage loans, personal loans, etc. Loan grades, obligor and
facility ratings as well as loss estimates (if applicable) are used to support credit approval.

The banking subsidiary also uses loan grades, obliger ratings and loss estimates (if applicable) to
support monitoring, reporting and analysis of credit risk. For non-retail exposures, more frequent
rating review and closer monitoring are required for higher-risk customers. For retail exposures,
monthly updated internal ratings and loss estimates are used for credit monitoring on a portfolio basis.
More comprehensive review is required for obligors being identified under high-risk pools.

Regular or ad hoc credit risk management information reports are provided to the management, and
various committees set under the hoard, to facilitate their continuous monitoring of credit risk.

In addition, the Group identifies credit concentration risk by industry, geography, customer and
counterparty. The Group monitors changes in counterparty credit risk, quality of the credit portfolio
and credit risk concentrations, and reports regularly to the Group's management.

Debt securities and derivatives

For investments in debt securities, the obliger ratings or external credit ratings, assessment of the
underlying assets and credit limits setting on customer/security issuer basis are used for managing
credit risk associated with the investment. For derivatives, the Group sets customer limits to manage
the credit risk involved and follows the same approval and control processes as applied for advances.
On-going monitoring and stop-loss procedures are established.

Settlement risk arises mainly from foreign exchange transactions with counterparties and also from
derivatives transactions in any situation where a payment in cash, securities or equities is made in the
failure of a corresponding receipt in cash, securities or equities. Daily settlement limits are established
for each counterparty or customer to cover all settlement risk arising from the Group's market
transactions on any single day.

Measurement of ECL

The ECL is a weighted average of credit losses on financial instruments weighted at the risk of default.
Credit loss is the difference between all receivable contractual cash flows according to the contract
and all cash flows expected to be received by the Group discounted to present value at the original
effective interest rate, i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls.

According to the changes of credit risk of financial instruments since the initial recognition, the Group
calculates the ECL by three stages:

. Stage 1: The financial instruments without significant increases in credit risk after initial
recognition apply the Stage 1 Model of the ECL to caiculate their impairment allowance
at an amount equivalent to the ECL of the financial instruments for the next 12 months;

+ Stage 2: Financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but have no objective evidence of impairment apply the Stage 2 Model of
the ECL, with their impairment provision measured at an amount equivalent to the ECL
over the lifetime of the financial instruments; and
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

+ Stage 3: Financial assets with objective evidence of impairment at the balance sheet date apply
the Stage 3 Model of ECL, with their impairment provisions measured at the amount
equivalent to the ECL for the lifetime of the financial instruments.

if the financial instrument no longer belongs to the situation of there being a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group will measure the impairment provision for the financial
instruments on the balance sheet date according to the ECL in the next 12 months.

The Group shall measure ECL of a financial instrument in a way that reflects:

: an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes;

. the time value of money; and

. reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

When measuring ECL, an entity needs not necessarily identify every possible scenario. However, the
Group shall consider the risk or probability that a credit loss occurs by reflecting the possibility that a
credit loss occurs and the possibility that no credit loss occurs, even if the possibility of a credit loss
occurring is very low.

The Group conducted an assessment of ECL according to forward-looking information and used
complex models and a large number of assumptions in its expected measurement of credit losses.
These models and assumptions relate to the future macroeconomic conditions and borrower's
creditworthiness (e.g., the likelihood of default by borrowers and the corresponding losses). The
Group adopts judgement, assumption and estimation techniques in order to measure ECL according
to the requirements of accounting standards such as:

criteria forjudging significant increases in credit risk;
definition of credit-impaired financial asset;
parameters for measuring ECL;

forward-looking information; and

modification of contractual cash flows.

Criteria forjudging significant increases in credit risk

The Group assesses whether or not the credit risk of the relevant financial instruments has increased
significantly since the initial recognition at each balance sheet date. Based on the single financial
instrument or the combination of financial instruments with similar characteristics of credit risk, the
Group compares the risk of default of financial instruments on the balance sheet date with that on the
initial recognition date in order to figure out the changes of default risk in the expected lifetime of
financial instruments. While determining whether the credit risk has significantly increased since initial
recognition or not, the Group takes into account the reasonable and substantiated information that is
accessible without exerting unnecessary cost or effort. The main criteria considered are as follows:

significant adverse change in the issuer or the debtor's operation or financial status;
significant downgrade in debtor's actual or expected internal and external credit ratings;
the creditor offers the debtor a grace period or an extension period or debt restructuring;
significant increase in credit spread; and

overdue information.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

Criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Definition of credit-impaired financial asset

The standard adopted by the Group to determine whether a credit impairment occurs is consistent
with the internal credit risk management objectives of the relevant financial instrument. When the
Group assesses whether the credit impairment of debtors occurred, the following factors are mainly

considered:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the debtor;

. debtors are in breach of contract, such as defaulting on interest or becoming overdue on
interest or principal payments overdue;

y the creditor of the debtor, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the debtor's financial
difficulty, having granted to the debtor a concession that the creditor would not otherwise
consider;

. it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial restructuring;

. the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties;

. the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred
credit losses; and

. overdue information.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that credit impairment has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging criterion is more appropriate.

Parameters of the ECL measurement

According to whether there is a significant increase in credit risk and whether there is an impairment
of assets, the Group measures the impairment loss for different assets with ECL of 12 months or the
entire lifetime respectively. The key measuring parameters of the ECL include probability of defauit
("PD"), loss given default ("LGD") and exposure at default ("EAD"). Based on the requirement of
HKFRS 9, the Group takes into account the quantitative analysis of historical statistics (such as ratings
of counterparties) and forward-looking information in order to establish the models of PD, LGD and

Relative definitions are listed as follows:

B PD refers to the possibility that the debtor wili not be able to fulfil its obligations of repayment
in the next 12 months or throughout the entire remaining lifetime;
. LGD refers to the Group's expectation of the extent of the loss resulting from the default

exposure, and is the percentage of loss of risk exposure at the time of default. LGD is
calculated over the next 12 months or over the entire remaining lifetime; and

. EAD is the amount that the Group should be reimbursed at the time of the default in the next
12 months or throughout the entire remaining lifetime.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

Forward-looking information

The assessment of a significant increase in credit risk and the caiculation of ECL involve forward-
looking information. For the year ended 31 December 2024, through the analysis of historical data,
the Group identifies the key economic indicators that affect the credit risk and ECL of various business
types, such as GDP, CPI, etc. For year ended 31 December 2024, through the analysis of historical
data, the Group identifies the key economic indicators that affect the credit risk and ECL of various
business types, such as New House Price Index, Pre-owned House Price Index and CPI, Ml, M2, etc.
The forecasted 2024 domestic MI growth rate used by the Group is between 3% and 4%, the
forecasted 2024 domestic M2 growth rate used by the Group is between 8% and 12%, the forecasted
2024 PPI growth rate used by the Group is between 3% and 5%.

The impact of these economic indicators on the ECL measurement varies according to different types
of business. The Group applies experts' judgement in this process, and predicts these economic
indicators on a regular basis and determines the impacts on these economic indicators on the ECL
measurement by conducting regression analysis.

In addition to providing a baseline economic scenario, the Group combines statistical analysis with
experts' judgement to determine the weightings of other possible scenarios. At 31 December 2024,
the Group reviewed the macroeconomic scenario weightings in conjunction with expert judgement.
Overall, the benchmark scenario has been assigned with the highest weighting while the upside
scenario shares the same weighting with the downside scenario. The Group measures the weighted
average ECL of 12 months (Stage 1) or life time (Stage 2 and Stage 3). The weighted average credit
loss above is calculated by multiplying the ECL for each scenario by the weighting of the
corresponding scenario.

Modification of contractual cash flows

A modification or re-negotiation of a contract between the Group and a counterparty may result in a
change to the contractual cash flows without resulting in the derecognition of the financial assets.
Such restructuring activities include extended payment term arrangements, repayment schedule
modifications and changes to the interest settlement method. The risk of default of such assets after
modification is assessed at the reporting date and compared with the risk under the original terms at
initial recognition, when the modification is not substantial and so does not result in derecognition of
the original asset and the book vaiue of the financial asset is recalculated and the related gain or loss
is included in current profit or loss. The recalculated book value of the financial asset is determined
based on the present value of the contractual cash flows following the renegotiation or modification,
as calculated using the original effective interest rate of the financial asset.

The Group monitors the subsequent performance of modified assets. The Group may determine that
the credit risk has significantly improved after restructuring, so that the assets are moved from Stage
3 or Stage 2 to Stage 1. The adjustment of the modified assets can only be made after meeting
specified criteria throughout the observation period. As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,
the carrying amount of financial assets with such madified contractual cash flows was not significant.

Expected Credit Loss ("ECL") Methodology

NCB enhanced the underlying parameters of the PD, LGD, probability weightings of macroeconomic
scenarios and forward-looking information based on the results of model re-examination. After
calculation, the relevant model changes have no significant impact on ECL. Relevant model changes
have been approved by NCB's Risk Management Committee.
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31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit exposures

The maximum credit exposure is the worst case scenario of exposure to the Group without taking into
account any collateral held or other credit enhancements. For on-balance sheet assets, the maximum
exposure to credit risk equals their carrying amount. For letters of guarantee issued, the maximum
exposure to credit risk is the maximum amount that the Group could be required to pay if the
guarantees are called upon. For loan commitments and other credit related liabilities, the maximum
exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the committed facilities.

The nature of the collateral held and other credit enhancements and their financial effect to the
different classes of the Group's financial assets are as follows:

Deposits and placements with banks and financial institutions

Collateral is generally not sought on these exposures in consideration of the counterparty nature.
However, other mitigations will be taken.

Financial investments
Collateral is generally not sought on debt securities.

Derivative financial instruments

The Master Agreement published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. ("ISDA
Master Agreement") is the preferred agreement for documenting derivatives activities of the Group. It
provides the contractual framework under which dealing activities of over-the-counter ("OTC")
derivative transactions are conducted, and sets out close-out netting provisions upon termination
following the occurrence of an event of default or a termination event. In addition, if deemed necessary,
Credit Support Annex ("CSA") will be included to form part of the Schedule to the ISDA Master
Agreement. Under a CSA, collateral is passed from one counterparty to another, as appropriate, to
mitigate the exposures.

Loans and advances fo customers, contingent liabilities and commitments

Loans and advances to customers, contingent liabilities and commitments are collateralised to the
extent considered appropriate by the Group taking account of the risk assessment of individual
exposures. The collateral coverage of loans and advances to customers is analysed below and the
components and nature of contingent liabilities and commitments are disclosed in Note 47. Regarding
the commitments that are unconditionally cancellable without prior notice, the Group would assess
the necessity to withdraw the credit line in case where the credit quality of a borrower deteriorates.
For contingent liabilities and commitments, 5.01% (2023: 7.03%) was covered by collateral as at
31 December 2024.

Maxirmum exposure to credit risk before taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements

The maximum exposure to credit risk represents the credit risk exposure to the Group at the end of
the reporting period without taking into account any collateral held or other credit enhancements. The
exposure to credit risk at the end of each reporting period mainly arises from loans and advances to
customers and investment products.
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
Credit exposures (continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk before taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements (continued)
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
On-balance sheet
Cash and balances with central banks 14,451,811 16,755,556
Deposits with banks and financial institutions 24,478,111 20,263,307
Placements with banks and financial institutions 40,396,822 24,782,219
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 18,598,606 13,091,952
Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income 174,721,202 167,099,052
Financial assets at amortized cost 1,107,022 7,296,653
Loans and advances to customers 270,557,124 303,112,432
Trade receivables 237,879 250,721
Other assets 6,302,990 6,009,460
Subtotal 550,851,567 558,661,352
Off-balance sheet
Loan commitments 172,380,903 150,323,594
Financial guarantees and other financial facilities 52,279,044 54,145,285
Subtotal 224,659,947 204,468,879
Total 775,511,514 763,130,231

The Group implements specific policies and credit enhancement practices to mitigate credit risk
exposure to an acceptable level. The most typical practice is by obtaining guarantee deposits,
collateral and/or guarantees. The amount and type of acceptable collateral are determined by credit
risk evaluations of counterparties. The Group implements guidelines on the acceptability of specific
classes of collateral and evaluation parameters. The main types of collateral obtained are land and
properties or other assets of the borrowers. The Group monitors the market value of collateral
periodically and requests for additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement when
necessary.
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit exposures (continued)

Risk concentration of loans and advances to customers at amortised cost

(a) By geographical area
2024 2023
Gross amount Gross amount
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
Hong Kong 164,032,542 61 193,258,372 64
Outside Hong Kong 105,427,809 39 106,882,999 36
269,460,351 100 300,141,371 100
(b} By industry sector
2024 2023
Gross amount Gross amount
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
Corporate business
Real estate 53,182,261 20 66,793,134 22
Leasing and commercial services 32,724,423 12 35,475,985 12
Manufacturing 25,905,887 10 26,748,001 9
Finance 36,712,968 14 45,732,572 15
Accommodation and catering 9,933,532 4 9,321,269 3
Information transmission,
computer services and software 9,665,763 4 8,667,592 3
Construction 6,830,523 2 7,511,018 3
Electricity, gas and water
production and supply 14,839,454 5 15,217,333 5
Transportation, logistics
and postal services 10,702,326 4 9,831,083 3
Wholesale and retail trade 10,378,196 4 11,523,973 4
Others 11,881,106 4 12,342,853 4
222,756,439 83 249,164,813 83
Personal business
Mortgage 26,273,294 10 27,240,194 9
Personal consumption loans 20,430,618 7 23,736,364 8
46,703,912 17 50,976,558 17
269,460,351 100 300,141,371 100
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk {continued)
Credit exposures (continued)

Risk concentration of loans and advances to customers at amortised cost (continued)

(c) By security type

2024 2023
Gross amount Gross amount
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
Unsecured 141,690,475 53 152,659,852 51
Guaranteed 22,313,736 8 16,278,711 5
Mortgaged 52,535,894 19 29,730,662 10
Pledged 52,920,246 20 101,472,146 34
269,460,351 100 300,141,371 100
Credit quality of loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Neither past due nor impaired 261,256,284 290,522,483
Past due but not impaired 614,150 2,699,338
Impaired 7,589,917 6,919,550
269,460,351 300,141,371
Less: Allowances for impairment losses (4,196,445) (4,920,818)
Net carrying amount 265,263,906 295,220,553
Impaired loans and advances to customers at amortised cost
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Gross amount 7,589,917 6,919,550
Less: Allowances for impairment losses (3,075,411) (3,081,745)
3,837,805

Net carrying amount
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit exposures (continued)

Impaired loans and advances to customers at amortised cost (continued)

(a)

(b)

By nature

Advances to customers
Personal
- Mortgages
- Credit cards
- Others
Corporate
- Commercial loans
- Trade finance

Gross impaired loans and
advances to customers

Impaired as a % of total loans
and advances to customers

By geographical area

Hong Kong
Outside Hong Kong

2024 2023
Market Market
Gross value of Gross value of
amount collateral amount collateral
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
200,473 318,513 117,500 203,037
711 - 619 -
209,390 274,268 367,624 122,547
7,126,261 4,384,723 6,383,505 1,454,584
53,082 41,551 50,302 24,545
7,589,917 5,019,055 6,919,550 1,804,713

2.82% 2.31%
2024 2023

Gross amount Gross amount
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
2,342,340 31 3,153,804 46
5,247,577 69 3,765,746 54
7,589,917 100 6,919,550 100
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit exposures (continued)

Credit quality of investment products
The tables below set forth the credit quality of treasury bills, debt securities, convertible bonds and
wealth management products.

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Neither past due nor impaired 188,892,516 186,141,351
Past due but not impaired - -
Impaired or overdue 1,134,975 490,688
190,027,491 186,632,039

Allowances for impairment losses (206,640) (205,177)
Net carrying amount 189,820,851 186,426,862

The following tables present an analysis of the carrying values of investment products by issue rating.

2024
AAA AA A Below A Unrated Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Treasury bills 8,747,186 72,956,111 376,856 - 173,726 82,253,879
Debt securities 4,582,094 25,542,100 56,990,497 14,651,100 3,508,206 105,273,997

160,238 160,238

Convertible bonds

Wealth management
- 2,132,737 2,132,737

products - - -
13,329,280 98,498,211 57,367,353 14,651,100 5,074,907 189,820,851
2023
AAA AA A Below A Unrated Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Treasury bills 7,702,308 69,327,788 164,065 - 385,837 77,579,998
Debt securities 8,619,311 31,168,771 43,780,286 11,011,833 13,922,739 108,502,940
Convertible bonds - - - 41,960 301,964 343,924
Wealth management
products - - B - -

16,321,619 100,496,559 43,944,351 11,053,793 14,610,540 186,426,862
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31 December 2024

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Credit exposures (continued)

Credit quality of investment products
Neither past due nor impaired

(@

The following tables present an analysis of investment products neither overdue nor credit-
impaired as at 31 December by issue rating.

Treasury bills
Debt securities
Convertible bonds
Wealth
management
products

Treasury bills
Debt securities
Convertible bonds
Wealth
management
products

(b)

2024
AAA AA A Below A Unrated Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
8,747,186 72,956,111 376,856 - 173,726 82,253,879
4,582,094 25,542,100 56,990,497 14,651,100 2,679,871 104,345,662
- - - - 160,238 160,238
- - - - 2,132,737 2,132,737
13,329,280 98,498,211 57,367,353 14,651,100 5,046,572 188,892,516
2023
AAA AA A Below A Unrated Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7,702,308 69,327,788 164,065 - 385,837 77,579,998
8,619,311 31,150,286 43,780,286 11,011,834 13,655,712 108,217,429
- - - 41,960 301,964 343,924
16,321,619 100,478,074 43,944,351 11,053,794 14,343,513 186,141,351

Credit-impaired or overdue

The following tables present an analysis of investment products credit-impaired or overdue
debt securities by issue rating.

Treasury bills
Debt securities
Convertible bonds

Of which accumulated
impairment allowances

2024
Carrying values

Of which
accumulated
impairment
AAA AA A Below A Unrated Total allowances
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
- - - - 1,134,975 1,134,975 206,640
- = - - 1,134,975 1,134,975 206,640

- - - - 206,640 206,640

58



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit exposures (continued)

Credit quality of investment products (continued)

(b) Credit-impaired or overdue (continued)
2023
Carrying values
Of which
accumulated
impairment
AAA AA A Below A Unrated Total aliowances
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Debt securities - - - 12,132 273,379 285,511 205,177
Convertible bonds - - - - - - -
- - - 12,132 273,379 285,511 205,177

Of which accumulated
impairment allowances - - - 146,546 58,6831 205,177

Market risk
Market risk refers to the risk of loss arising from movements in the value of foreign exchange, interest

rate, equity and commodity positions held by the Group due to the volatility of financial market price
(foreign exchange rate, interest rate, equity price, commodity price). The Group adopts a moderate
market risk appetite to achieve a balance between risk and return.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises from the mismatches
between contractual maturities or repricing dates of interest-generating assets and interest-bearing
liabilities.

The risk of fair value and cash flow changes due to interest rate changes is mainly related to the
Group's fixed rate and floating rate financial instruments respectively.

The Group manages its interest rate risk by:

. minimising the mismatches between contractual maturities or repricing dates of interest-
generating assets and interest-bearing liabilities;

. strictly controlling the length of the debt restructuring term and strengthening the matching of
the Group's liabilities with the terms and interest rate structure of the restructured distressed
assets; and

. regularly performing quantitative analysis, including periodic sensitivity analysis.
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in HK$, Renminbi
("RMB") and United States Dollars ("US$"). An entity is exposed to foreign exchange risk when the
financial assets and financial liabilites are denominated in currencies other than the functional

currency.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the majority of the financial assets and liabilities held by the
Company and its subsidiaries with RMB as functional currency are denominated in RMB. As a result,
the Group only exposed to foreign currency risk arising from its RMB exposures held by the Company
and its subsidiaries with HK$ as the functional currency, as HK$ is pegged to US$ with no significant
foreign currency risk exposed.

The following table shows the Group's RMB exposures held by the Company and subsidiaries with
HK$ as its functional currency, that expose the Group to foreign currency risk:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets
Cash and balances with central banks 11,014,313 13,105,795
Deposits with banks and financial institutions 13,211,751 7,220,487
Placements with banks and financial institutions 7,066,576 3,644,763
Financial investments
« Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,529,020 1,528,945
« Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income 5,892,617 15,394,536
Trade receivables 26,086 6,452
Loans and advances to customers 18,706,987 17,651,613
Other assets 3,679,340 530,300
61,126,690 59,082,891
Financial liabilities
Placements from banks and financial institutions 3,088,228 4,092,673
Accounts payable 37,836 63,330
Due to customers 26,568,393 33,030,292
Other liabilities 1,987,523 1,886,273
Total 31,681,980 39,072,568
Net foreign currency positions 29,444,710 20,010,323
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table indicates the approximate changes in the Group's profit/loss before tax and
investment revaluation reserve in response to possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to which
the Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting period.

2024 2023

Appreciation/ Effecton  Appreciation/ Effect on

depreciation Effect investment depreciation Effect investment

of foreign profit  revaluation of foreign onloss revaluation

currency before tax reserve currency before tax reserve

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RMB +10% 2,355,209 589,261 +10% 2,001,032 1,539,454
-10%  (2,355,209) (589,261) -10%  (2,001,032) (1,539,454)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in foreign exchange rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to each of the Group entities’
exposure to currency risk for monetary assets and liabilities in existence at that date, and that all other
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. Effects of changes in foreign exchange rates
on non-monetary financial investments are included in equity price risk.

The stated changes represent management's assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates over the period until the end of next annual reporting period.

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table represent an aggregation of the effects on
each of the Group entities' profit/loss before tax measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into HK$ at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation
purposes. The analysis is performed on the same basis for prior year.

Equity price risk

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, the Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, and financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income.

The management manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks.
The Group's equity price risks are mainly concentrated on equity instruments quoted in the market.
In addition, the management monitors the price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure should
the need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date. If the prices of the respective equity investments had been 10% (2023: 10%)
higher/lower, assuming all other variables were held constant, the impact would be:

. Profit before tax for the year ended 31 December 2024 would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$4,565,909,000 (2023: profit before tax would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$4,614,076,000) as a result of the changes in fair vaiue of financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss; and

. investment revaluation reserve would increase/decrease by approximately HK$1,807,400
(2023: HK$2,561,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income.
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Equity price risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous change in the Group's profit before tax and equity
that would arise assuming the changes in the relevant stock price had occurred at the end of the

reporting period and had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to equity price risk at the reporting date.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that funds will not be available to meet liabilities as they fall due. This may
arise from cash flows or maturity mismatches of assets and liabilities.

The Group manages its liquidity risk by:

B optimising assets and liabilities structure;

. implementing a centralised liquidity management system by pooling Group-wide funds and
maintaining an efficient internal fund transfer mechanism within the Group; and

. regularly performing quantitative analysis.
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This section provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.

(i) Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair

value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values
of these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation
technique(s) and key input(s) used) as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which
the fair value measurement are categorised (Level 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable.

Level 1 - fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active market for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2 - fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3 - fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that
include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).

Valuation
Fair values as at Fair value technique(s)
Financial assets/financial liabilities 31 December hierarchy and key input(s)
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
{("EVTOCI")
1)  Unlisted equity securities 18,074 25,606 Level 3 Market approach
2) Treasury bills 76,796,646 71,632,681 Level 1 Quoted bid prices
in an active market
3) Listed debt securities 18,222,896 24,591,058 Level 1 Quoted bid prices
in an active market
4)  Unlisted debt securities 79,683,586 70,875,313 Level 2 Quoted market prices
from dealers/brokers
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL")
1) Listed equity securities 2,086,700 2,726,799 Level 1 Quoted bid prices
in an active market
97,252 - Level 3 Market approach
2} Treasury bills 5,457,233 5,947,317 Level 2 Quoted market prices
from dealers/brokers
3) Listed debt securities 1,765,340 1,249,143 Level 1 Quoted bid prices
in an active market
17,578 - Level 2 Quoted market prices
from dealers/brokers
4,050 34,122 Level 3 Discounted
cash flow model
4) Derivative financiat instruments 398,772 362,784 Level 1 Quoted bid prices
in an active market
2,616,416 718,063 Level 2 Quoted market prices
from dealers/brokers
N 166,609 Level 3 Discounted

cash flow model

75



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis (continued)
Valuation
Fair values as at Fair value technique(s)
Financial assets/financial liabilities 31 December hierarchy and key input(s)
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL")
(continued)
5) Convertible bonds 160,238 172,539 Level 1 Quoted bid prices
in an active market
- 171,385 Level 3 Discounted
cash flow model
6) Unlisted debt investments 4,294,591 4,449,617 Level 2 Quoted market prices
from dealers/brokers
178,934 7,034 Level 3 Discounted
cash flow model
7) Listed equity funds 918,769 - Level 1 Quoted bid prices
in an active market
8) Unlisted equity funds 1,295,398 1,089,273 Level 2 Quoted net asset value
2,170 400,078 Level 3 Residual method
- 373,003 Level 3 Binomial model
2,480,815 4,279,056 Level 3 Note (a)
1,992,639 1,357,781 Level 3 Market approach
999,880 2,302,848 Level 3 Discounted
cash fiow model
8,836,944 8,689,153 Level 3 Adjusted NAV
9) Unlisted equity securities 298,564 - Level 2 Quoted market prices
from dealers/brokers
4,687,524 4,863,555 Level 3 Market approach
11,333,738 11,048,276 Level 3 Note (b}
8,544,717 9,047,918 Level 3 Note (c)
195,750 - Level 3 Discounted
cash flow model
10) Asset-backed securities 284,651 162,523 Level 1 Quoted bid prices
in an active market
11) Wealth management products 2,132,737 - Level 2 Quoted market prices
from dealers/ brokers
12) Distressed debt 400,884 - Level 3 Discounted
cash flow model
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
1) Derivative financial instruments 776,162 1,351,573 Level 2 Quoted market prices
from dealers/brokers
2) Short positions in securities 183,388 1,793,057 Level 2 Quoted market prices
from dealers/brokers
3) Exchange fund bills and notes 6,200,098 5,784,773 Level 2 Quoted market prices
from dealers/brokers
4) Payables to interest holders of - 785,450 Level 3 Note (¢)
consolidated structured entities
5) Precious metal lending - 694,294 Level 2 Quoted market prices

from dealers/brokers

76



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair

value on a recurring basis (continued)

Notes:

(@)

(b)

(©

(d)

Unlisted equity funds and loans and advances

The fair value of these unlisted equity funds and loans and advances are determined
with reference to quoted net asset value of the funds which are derived by the
valuation of underlying investment properties. The valuation of underlying properties
maybe based on valuation techniques including residual method for property-
development projects, and discounted cash flow mode! for property-rental projects.
The unobservable inputs applied in these valuation techniques had significant impact
on the valuation. Therefore, these instruments have been classified by the Group as
Level 3.

Unlisted equity securities

The fair value of these unlisted equity securities is derived by using residual method,
estimating the estimated value of developed properties, net of estimated costs to
develop. The unobservable inputs are the fair value of underlying properties. The
relationship of the unobservable inputs to fair value is the higher the fair value of
underlying properties, the higher the fair value of unlisted equity securities.

Unlisted equity securities

The fair value of these equity securities of unlisted company is derived by using
market approach, using market multiples and EBITDA of the unlisted company.
Market multiple of 13.47X (2023: 10.65X) was used in the valuation model. The
relationship of the unobservable input to fair value is the higher the market multiple,
the higher the fair value.

If the market multiple used in the valuation model were 4% higher/lower white all the
other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the unlisted company
would increase/decrease by HK$316,247,000 (2023: HK$383,818,000).

Derivative financial instruments

The option contract was calculated based on the difference between the put value as
at the exercise date adjusted by the time value of money and the credit valuation
adjustment; and the carrying value of the investment in the Group.

The forward contract was calculated based on the difference between the forward

settlement price, adjusted by the time value of money and the credit valuation
adjustment; and the carrying value of the investment in the Group.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair

value on a recurring basis (continued)

The table below summarises valuation techniques which

incorporates significant

unobservable inputs, and relationship between unobservable inputs and fair value of financial
assets/financial liabilities.

Valuation
technigue
Binomial model!

Residual method

Markel approach

Discounted cash
flow model

Valuation
technique
Binomial model

Residual method

Markel approach

Discounted cash
flow model

31 December 2024

Significant
unobservabie inputs Range
Volatility 30.48% - 84.90%

HK$14,000 - 78,215
per square meter

Fair value of underlying
properties
(average sales price)

Market multiples 0.26X — 17.93X

Discount for lack of 9.73% - 22.44%

marketability (DLOM)

Discount rate 0.99% - 22.95%

31 December 2023

Significant
unobservable inputs Range
Volatility 16.03% - 43.66%

HK$14,000 - 46,100
per square meter

Fair value of underlying
properties
(average sales price)

Market multiples 0.65X - 30.06X

Discount for lack of 8.64% - 20.74%

marketability (DLOM)

Discount rate 2.78% - 16.03%
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The relationship
of unobservable

inputs and fair value

The higher the volatility,
the higher the fair value

The higher the average
sales price of properties,
the higher the fair value

The higher the market multiples,
the higher the fair value

The lower of the DLOM,
the higher the fair value

The higher the discount
rates, the lower the fair value

The relationship
of unobservable

inputs and fair vaiue

The higher the volatility,
the higher the fair value

The higher the average
sales price of properties,
the higher the fair value

The higher the market multiples,
the higher the fair value

The lower of the DLOM,
the higher the fair value

The higher the discount
rates, the lower the fair value
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

Fair value measurements and valuation processes

Some of the Group's assets and liabilities are measured at fair value for financiai reporting
purposes. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
may engage third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The Group works closely
with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that are not based on observable
market data to estimate the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. Detailed
information about the valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities are disclosed above.

Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time based on relevant market information
and information about various financial instruments. The following methods and assumptions
have been used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument as far as

practicable.

Deposits with/ from banks and other financial institutions

Substantially all the financial assets and liabilities mature within one year from the balance
sheet date and their carrying value approximates fair value.

Loans granted under repurchase agreements

Substantially all the loans granted under repurchase agreements mature within one year from
the balance sheet date and their carrying value approximates fair value.

Loans and advances to customers at amortised cost

Substantially all the loans and advances to customers are on floating rate terms, bear interest
at prevailing market interest rates and their carrying value approximates fair value.

Due to customers
Substantially all the deposits from customers mature within one year from the balance sheet
date and their carrying value approximates fair value.

Bonds issued
The fair value of bonds issued is determined by using the same approach as those debt
instruments measured at fair value.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(i) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a

recurring basis (continued)

Fair value measurements and valuation processes (continued)

Debt instruments at amortised cost

The fair value of debt instruments at amortised cost is determined by using the same approach
as those debt instruments measured at fair value as described above.

The following tables set out the carrying values and fair values of the financial instruments
not measured at fair value, except for those which their carrying values recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

2024 2023
Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial asset
Financial assets at
amortised cost 1,107,022 1,104,068 7,296,653 7,275,390
Financial liability
Bonds issued 120,703,497 101,378,316 118,760,824 107,800,439

The following tables show the fair value hierarchy for financial instruments with fair values

disclosed.

2024
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial asset
Financial assets at
amortised cost 388,260 715,808 - 1,104,068
Financial liability
Bonds issued - 97,194,180 4,184,136 101,378,316
2023
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial asset
Financial assets at
amortised cost 25,215 7,250,175 - 7,275,390
Financial liability
Bonds issued - 88,250,183 19,550,256 107,800,439
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value measurements of non-financial instruments

(iii)

(v)

Fair value hierarchy

This note explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the
non-financial assets that are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair
value, the group has classified its non-financial assets into the three levels prescribed under
the accounting standards.

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 December 2024
Investment properties - 17,100 2,685,107 2,702,207
Land and buildings - 4,203,391 2,899,132 7,102,523
Other assets- Precious metals 33 118,676 - - 118,676
Total non-financial assets 118,676 4,220,491 5,584,239 9,923,406
At 31 December 2023
Investment properties - 12,600 2,884,111 2,896,711
Land and buildings - 3,431,405 4,630,825 8,062,230
Other assets- Precious metals 33 105,937 178,329 - 284,266
Total non-financial assets 105,937 3,622,334 7,514,936 11,243,207

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels
as at the end of the reporting period.

There were no non-financial asset transfers between levels 1 and levels 2 for the Group during
the year (2023: Nil).

Valuation technigues used to determine level 2 and level 3 fair values

The Group obtains independent valuations for its investment properties and for its land and
buildings (classified as property, plant and equipment) at least annually.

At the end of each reporting period, the directors update their assessment of the fair value of
each property, taking into account the most recent independent valuations. The directors
determine a property's value within a range of reasonable fair value estimates.

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an active market for similar properties.
Where such information is not available the directors consider information from a variety of
sources including:

. current prices in an active market for properties of a different nature or recent prices
of similar properties in less active markets, adjusted to reflect those differences

. discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash flows

. capitalised income projections based on a property's estimated net market income,

and a capitalisation rate derived from an analysis of market evidence.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value measurements of non-financial instruments (continued)

V)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for the periods ended 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2024 for recurring fair value measurements:

Opening balance as at
1 January 2023
Additions
Disposals
Transfer out
Reclassification
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Depreciation and impairment
Gains recognised in other
comprehensive income
Exchange difference

Closing balance as at
31 December 2023

Opening balance as at
1 January 2024
Additions
Disposals
Transfer out
Reclassification
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Depreciation and impairment
Gains recognised in other
comprehensive income
Exchange difference

Closing balance as at
31 December 2024

Includes unrealised losses
recognised in profit or loss
attributable to balances held
at the end of the reporting period

2024

2023

Investment
properties
HK$'000

3,052,269

(144,300)
(16,023)

(7,835-)

2,884,111

2,884,111
1,167

47,900
(43,600)

(195,864)
(8,607)

2,685,107

(43,600)

(16,023)
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Land and
buildings
HK$'000

6,853,618
30,342

(2,242,027)
144,300
(1,846)

(144,511)

9,489

(18,540)

4,630,825

4,630,825
10,494
(138,837)
(1,215,120)
(47,900)
(14,512)
(129,825)

(129,764)

(66,229)

2,899,132

(14,512)

(1,846)

Total
HK$'000

9,905,887
30,342
(2,242,027)

(17.869)
(144,511)

9,489

(26,375)

7,514,936

7,514,936
11,661

(138,837)

(1,215,120)

(58,112)
(129,825)

(325,628)

(74,836)

5,584,239

(58,112)

(17,869)
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31 December 2024

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Fair value measurements of non-financial instruments (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

The following table summarises the quantitative information about the significant
unobservable inputs used in recurring level 3 fair value measurements (see (ii) above for the
valuation techniques adopted):

Range of inputs

Fair value at Unobservable (probability- Relationship of unobservable

Description 2024 2023 inputs* weighted average) inputs to fair value
HK$'000 HK$'000 2024 2023

Term yield 2.2% -4.1% 1.8% - 4% The higher the term yield

(3.15%) (2.9%) and Reversionary yieids,

the lower the fair value

Investment 2,685,107 2,884,111 Capitalisation 1.9%- 5.5% 2.7% - 5.5% The higher the Capitalisation

properties rate (3.7%) (4.1%) rate, the lower the fair value

Land and 2,899,132 4,630,825 Capitalisation 1.9%- 5.5% 2.7% - 5.5% The higher the Capitalisation

buildings rate (3.7%) (4.1%) rate, the lower the fair value

There were no significant inter-relationships between unobservable inputs that materially
affect fair values.

Valuation processes

The Group engages external, independent and qualified valuers to determine the fair value of
the group's investment properties and the land and buildings at the end of every financial
year. As at 31 December 2024, the fair values of the investment properties and the land and
buildings have been determined by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, Vincorn Consulting and
Appraisal Limited, Zhejiang Tianping Real Estate Asset Appraisal Limited and Shenzhen
Pengxin Assets Appraisal Land and Real Estate Appraisal Company Limited.

The main level 3 inputs used by the group are derived and evaluated as follows:

. Investment properties - terminal yields, reversionary yields and capitalisation rate are
estimated by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited,
Zhejiang Tianping Real Estate Asset Appraisal Limited and Shenzhen Pengxin
Assets Appraisal Land and Real Estate Appraisal Company Limited or management
based on comparabie transactions and rental data.

. Land and buildings - capitalisation rate is estimated by Jones Lang LaSaile Limited
and Shenzhen Pengxin Assets Appraisal Land and Real Estate Appraisal Company
Limited or management based on comparable transactions and rental data.
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6. INTEREST INCOME
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Loans and advances to customers
- Corporate and personal loans and advances 14,505,071 15,095,729
Financial investments at amortised cost 115,802 551,642
Deposits with banks and financial institutions 569,641 496,758
Placements with banks and financial institutions 1,161,425 945,510
Balance with central banks 102,636 109,367
Loans granted under repurchase agreements 37,450 30,501
Others 7,912 17,418
16,499,937 17,246,925
7. NET GAINS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Net gains on disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss 1,137,904 264,467
Net gains from changes in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss 3,913,257 3,940,810
5,051,161 4,205,277
8. INVESTMENT INCOME
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Net realised gains from disposal of financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income 492,649 292,672
Interest income from financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income 6,776,334 5,027,949
Dividend income from financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income 1,402 1,467
Loss recycled from translation reserve and investment
revaluation reserve arising from a partial disposal of
an associate (217,248) -
Net losses from a partial disposal of an associate (230,664) -
Others (63,080) (64,395)

6,759,393 5,257,693
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10.

1.

REVENUE FROM SALES OF INVENTORIES AND PURCHASES AND CHANGES IN INVENTORIES

Revenue from sales of inventories
Purchases and changes in inventories

Gross profit/(loss) from sales of properties

COMMISSION AND FEE INCOME

Revenue from contract with customers:
- Loan commissions
- Securities brokerage
- Consultancy and financial advisory
- Fund and asset management business
- Insurance commissions
- Banking business
- Others

OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains

Net losses arising from financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss

Net losses from disposal of and fair value
changes of investment properties

Rental income

Others

2024
HK$'000

907,488
(527,920)

379,568

2024
HK$'000

514,182
274,611
19,227
4,458
390,150
99,053
126,652

1,428,333

2024
HK$'000

(790,578)
(224,204)
(240,164)

267,751
279,111

(708,084)
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2023
HK$'000

550,551

(593,802)

(43,251)

2023
HK$'000

419,668
149,265
4,229
91,899
364,931
312,330

149,176

1,491,498

2023
HK$'000

29,403
(249,246)

(17,239)
345,912

79,565

188,395
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31 December 2024

12. INTEREST EXPENSE

Borrowings

- Wholly repayable within five years

- Not wholly repayable within five years
Bonds issued
Due to customers
Deposits from banks and financial institutions
Financial assets sold under repurchase agreements
Placements from banks and financial institutions
Lease liabilities
Others

13. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff cost (including directors' remuneration)
- Salaries and allowances
- Defined contribution plans
- Defined benefit schemes
Operating leases payments
Outsourcing activities fee
Business tax and surcharges
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 28)
Amortisation of right-of-use assets (Note 28)
Legal and professional fees
Auditor's remuneration
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 30)
Administrative expenses
Recruitment costs
Marketing costs
Postage and Telecommunications Expenses
Others
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2024
HK$'000

1,525,575
1,393,160
4,758,465
12,554,986
450,544
405,181
306,904
30,183

4,320

21,429,318

2024
HK$'000

1,897,712
231
5,393
72,327
313,776
306,615
336,299
261,380
81,498
14,844
359,773
274,443
15,449
16,802
111,995

827,529

4,896,066

2023
HK$'000

1,182,193
1,214,312
4,684,434
10,885,713
414,977
1,137,603
396,882
33,337

9,556

19,959,007

2023
HK$'000

1,847,064
221
5,600
55,338
441,273
63,916
313,875
260,557
56,757
13,017
320,229
119,964
18,418
25,480
77,435

722,609

4,341,753
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31 December 2024

14. CREDIT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Charge of impairment losses on:
- Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
- Other financial investments
- Balances with banks and other financial institutions
- Loans and advances to customers
- Other assets
- Trade receivables
- Financial guarantees and loan commitments

15. ASSET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Charge of impairment losses on:
- Interests in associates
- Goodwiill

16. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax - Hong Kong
- Charge for current year
- Over-provision in prior year

Current tax - PRC
- Charge for current year
- Under-provision in prior year

Current tax - Overseas
- Charge for current year

Deferred tax
- Hong Kong profits tax
- PRC enterprise income tax
- Overseas taxation
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2024
HK$'000

(19,880)

(667)

(3,578)
3,016,216

(44,222)
339

)

2,948,201

2024
HK$'000

2024
HK$'000

33,272
(102)

190,511
31,907

297,198
50,674

603,460

2023
HK$'000

(46,362)
(541)
114
3,192,533
14,190
(4,467)

(80,769)

3,074,698

2023
HK$'000

255,748

708,030

963,778

2023
HK$'000

479,600
(26,747)

115,812
27,719

(7,457)

(290,842)
137,821

16,264

452,170
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16.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

A reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at applicable domestic tax rates in each
individual jurisdiction where the Company and its subsidiaries operate is as follows:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000

Profit before tax 478,614 677,452
Tax at the Hong Kong profits tax rate at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) 78,971 111,780
Effect of different tax rates in other countries 59,603 700,587
Income not subject to tax (540,128) (492,382)
Expenses not deductible for tax 234,886 60,391
Tax losses not recognised 829,314 328,333
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (7,670) (188,302)
Under-provision in prior years 31,805 972
Foreign withholding tax (514) 1,459
Adjustment in respect of the distribution payment for

other equity instruments issued by a subsidiary (82,807) (70,668)
Income tax expense 603,460 452,170

The Group has tax losses of HK$6,123,571,000 (2023: HK$1,143,910,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against its future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the
year.

In December 2021, the Orgnisaition for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) published
Tax Challenges Arising from the Digitalization of the Economy — Global Anti-Base Erosion Model
Rules (“Pillar Two"). Under Pillar Two legislative rules, low tax jurisdictions with effective tax rates
below 15% may have Top-up Tax.

The Group is within the scope of the Pillar Two ruies. As at 31 December 2024, Hong Kong has not
yet completed the legislation of Pillar Two. The United Kingdom where some of the Group's
subsidiaries are located, local legislation or draft legislation on Pillar Two has been enacted, and have
come into effect on or after 1 January 2024. The legislation of the above jurisdictions has no significant
impact on the Group’s financial position and operating results in 2024. Meanwhile, the Group applies
the exception to recognizing and disclosing information about deferred tax assets and liabilities related
to Pillar Two income taxes, as provided in the amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes issued in July

2023.
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17.

18.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

Directors' remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 383(i)(a), (b), (¢) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefit of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Directors' emoluments:
- Fees 5 5
- Salaries and other benefits 4,080 5,199
- Bonus - -
- Retirement benefits schemes contributions 550 726
4,635 5,930
CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Cash 481,114 575,908
Mandatory reserve deposits with central banks (Note (i) 6,015,537 6,451,734
Surplus reserve deposits with central banks 5,494,771 7,139,450
Other deposits with central banks 2,460,389 2,588,464
14,451,811 16,755,556
Including:
Restricted - Balances with central banks 6,015,537 6,451,734
0] In accordance with relevant regulations, NCB, a subsidiary of banking operations, is required

to place mandatory reserve deposits with the People’s Bank of China (the "PBOC") for
customer deposits in both RMB and foreign currencies. As at 31 December 2024, the
mandatory deposits were calculated at 6% (2023: 7%) of customer deposits denominated in
RMB and 4% (2023: 4%) of customer deposits denominated in foreign currencies. Mandatory
reserve deposits are not available for use by the Group in its daily operations.
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19. DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2024
HK$'000
Deposits with banks 20,960,331
Deposits with other financial institutions 3,474,457
Interest receivable 64,005
24,498,793

Less: allowance for impairment losses (20,682)

24,478,111

2023
HK$'000

17,179,220
3,039,727

44,517
20,263,464
(157)

20,263,307

As at 31 December 2024, the deposits with banks and other financial institutions bore interest from

0.00% to 6.00% (2023: 0.01% to 5.74%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's Deposits with banks and financial institutions were

all in Stage 1.

20. PLACEMENTS WiTH BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2024
HK$'000
Placements with banks 38,373,669
Placements with financial institutions 1,936,687
Interest receivable 101,921
40,412,277

Less: Allowance for impairment losses (15,455)

40,396,822

2023
HK$'000

22,423,866
2,340,491

37,341
24,801,698
(19,479)

24,782,219

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's Placements with banks and financial institutions were

all in Stage 1.
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31 December 2024

21. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note (a))
Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income (note (b))
Financial assets at amortised cost (note (c))

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Listed equity investments
Treasury bills

Listed debt securities
Derivatives financial instruments (Note 22)
Convertible bonds

Unlisted debt investments
Listed equity funds

Unlisted equity funds

Unlisted equity securities
Asset-backed securities
Wealth management products
Distressed debt

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

Treasury bills

Listed debt securities
Unlisted debt securities
Unlisted equity securities
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2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
61,482,284 59,618,876
174,721,202 167,124,658
1,107,022 7,296,653
237,310,508 234,040,187
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
2,183,952 2,726,799
5,457,233 5,947,317
1,786,968 1,283,265
3,015,188 1,247,456
160,238 343,924
4,473,525 4,456,651
918,769 -
15,607,846 18,491,192
25,060,293 24,959,749
284,651 162,523
2,132,737 -
400,884 -
61,482,284 59,618,876
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
76,796,646 71,632,681
18,222,896 24,591,058
79,683,586 70,875,313
18,074 25,606
174,721,202 167,124,658
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21. FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (continued)
Notes: (continued)
(b) Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income {continued)

An analysis of changes in the corresponding impairment allowances of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income is, as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1 January 2024 (77,515) - - (77,515)
Impairment losses 19,880 - - 19,880
Exchange difference 911 - - 911
At 31 December 2024 (56,724) - - (56,724)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1 January 2023 (99,542) - (182,129) (281,671)
Impairment losses 46,100 - 262 46,362
Written off - - 182,734 182,734
Exchange difference (24,073) - (867) (24,940)
At 31 December 2023 (77,515) - - (77,515)

(c) Financial assets at amortised cost

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

Debt securities 1,107,078 7,297,376
Less: allowances for impairment losses (56) (723)

1,107,022 7,296,653
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21.

FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c)

Financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

Debt securities are as follows:

At 31 December 2024
Gross debt securities

Less: allowance for
impairment losses

Net debt assets

At 31 December 2023

Gross debt securities
Less: allowance for
impairment losses

Net debt assets

The movements of allowance for debt securities are as follows:

At 1 January 2024

Impairment losses recognized

Exchange re-alignment

At 31 December 2024

At 1 January 2023

Impairment losses recognized

Exchange re-alignment

At 31 December 2023

Stage 3
Stage 1 Stage 2 (Lifetime
(12-month  (Lifetime ECL-
ECL) ECL) impaired) Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
1,107,078 - - 1,107,078
(56) - - (56)
1,107,022 - - 1,107,022
7,297,376 - - 7,297,376
(723) - - (723)
7,296,653 - - 7,296,653
Stage 3
Stage 1 Stage 2 (Lifetime
(12-month  (Lifetime ECL-
ECL) ECL) impaired) Total
HK$'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(723) - - (723)
165 - - 165
502 - - 502
(56) - - (56)
(1,264) - - (1,264)
402 - - 402
139 - - 139
(723) - - (723)
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22, DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Derivative financial instruments
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Contractual/ Contractual/
Notional Fair value Notional Fair value
amount Assets Liabilities amount Assets Liabilities
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Exchange rate derivatives
Currency spots,
forwards, and swaps,
and cross-currency
interest rate swaps 229,159,798 2,594,377 (489,721) 95,466,028 557,678  (1,019,547)
Currency options 3,129,033 19,599 (22,576) 1,455,639 85,602 (85,632)
232,288,831 2,613,976 (512,297) 96,921,667 643,280  (1,105,179)
Interest rate derivatives 30,758,063 352,130 (263,865) 53,828,802 411,202 (239,719)
Commodity derivatives
and others 347,599 49,082 - 1,077,348 192,974 (6,675)
263,394,493 3,015,188 (776,162) 151,827,817 1,247,456  (1,351,573)

(b) Hedge accounting

Fair value hedges

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge against change in fair value of financial assets

arising from movements in market interest rates.

The table below summarises the contract/notional amounts of the hedging instruments as at

31 December 2024 by remaining contractual maturity.

Up to 1t03 3to12 1to5 Over
1 month months months years 5 years Total
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2024
Interest rate swaps - 956,714 901,901 4,714,215 310,572 6,883,402
2023
Interest rate swaps - - 3,336,089 5,504,704 1,416,934 10,257,727
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22. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Hedge accounting (continued)
Fair value hedges {continued)

The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments are as follows:

Change in fair

Contract/ value used for
notional Fair values recognising hedge
amounts Assets Liabilities ineffectiveness
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2024
Derivative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps 6,883,402 159,155 (67,978) -
2023
Derivative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps 10,257,727 213,335 (36,812) -

The amounts relating to hedged items are as follows:

Accumulated
amount of fair

value hedge Change in
adjustment value used for
included in recognizing
Carrying the carrying hedge
amounts amounts ineffectiveness
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
2024
Financial investments
Debt securities and
certificates of deposit 9,627,805 (60,098) -
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22.

23.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Hedge accounting {continued)

Fair value hedges (continued)

The amounts relating to hedged items are as follows: (continued)

Carrying
amounts
HK$'000
2023
Financial investments
Debt securities and
certificates of deposit 10,028,108

Hedge ineffectiveness recognised is as follows:

Net trading gain

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Accounts receivabie from disposal of investments
Commission and fee receivable

Clearing settlements

Lease revenue receivable

Others

Less: allowances for impairment losses
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Accumulated
amount of fair
value hedge
adjustment
included in
the carrying
amounts
HK$'000

(122,631)

2024
HK$'000

2024
HK$'000

102,860
82,655
25,565
15,116
15,572

(3,889)

237,879

Change in
value used for
recognizing
hedge
ineffectiveness
HK$'000

2023
HK$'000

99,712
27,515
25,756
17,013
84,858

(4,133)

250,721
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24. LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

At fair value through profit or loss:
- Corporate loans and advances

At amortised cost:
- Corporate loans and advances
- Personal loans and advances

Gross loans and advances to customers

Less: allowances for impairment losses (note)

Neft loans and advances to customers

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
5,293,218 7,891,879
222,756,439 249,274,551
46,703,912 50,866,820
269,460,351 300,141,371
274,753,569 308,033,250
(4,196,445) (4,920,818)
270,557,124 303,112,432

As at 31 December 2024, loans and advances to customers included accrued interest of
HK$1,610,844,500 (2023: HK$1,515,600,500).

The breakdown of ECL stages of loans and advances to customers measured at amortised cost was

as follows:

2024

Gross loans and advances to customers
measured at amortised cost

Less: allowances for impairment losses (note)

Net loans and advances to customers
measured at amortised cost

2023

Gross loans and advances to customers
measured at amortised cost

Less: allowances for impairment losses (note)

Net loans and advances to customers
measured at amortised cost

Stage 3
Stage 1 Stage 2 (Lifetime
(12-month (Lifetime ECL-
ECL) ECL) impaired) Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
253,369,686 8,500,749 7,589,916 269,460,351
(825,006) (296,028) (3,075,411) (4,196,445)
252,544,680 8,204,721 4,514,505 265,263,906
282,175,506 11,046,315 6,919,550 300,141,371
(1,388,029) (451,044)  (3,081,745) (4,920,818)
280,787,477 10,595,271 3,837,805 295,220,553
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24.

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS (continued)

Note:

The movement in allowances for impairment losses was as follows:

At 1 January 2024

Net transfer between stages
Impairment losses recognised
Impairment losses reversed
Write-off and transfer out

Recovery of loans and advances
Others (include exchange difference)

At 31 December 2024

At 1 January 2023

Net transfer between stages
Impairment losses recognised
Impairment losses reversed
Write-off and transfer out

Recovery of loans and advances
Others (include exchange difference)

At 31 December 2023

Stage 3
Stage 1 Stage 2 (Lifetime
(12-month (Lifetime ECL-
ECL) ECL) impaired) Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(1,388,029) (451,044) (3,081,745) (4,920,818)
33,219 188,655 (221,874) -
(102,8086) (125,744) (4,112,898)  (4,341,448)
588,389 377,813 359,030 1,325,232
- (293,969) 3,669,435 3,375,466
20,732 5,700 - 26,432
23,489 2,561 312,641 338,691
(825,006) (296,028)  (3,075,411)  (4,196,445)
(1,395,207) (5622,732) (2,184,268) (4,102,207)
7,997 148,877 (156,874) -
(612,762) (109,130) (3,729,399) (4,451,291)
589,415 26,843 597,776 1,214,034
- - 2,464,892 2,464,892
- - (89,891) (89,891)
22,528 5,098 16,019 43,645
(1,388,029) (451,044)  (3,081,745) (4,920,818)

99



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

25.

26.

LOANS GRANTED UNDER REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

By collateral type:
- Bond
Less: allowances for impairment losses

2024

HK$'000

1,760,614

(121)

1,760,483

2023
HK$'000

2,799,324
(227)

2,799,097

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all the Company's assets held under resale agreements were in

Stage 1.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Interests in associates (note (a))
Interests in joint ventures (note (b))

Less: allowances for impairment losses

Notes:

(a)

Interests in associates

2024

HK$'000

7,884,324

245,102

8,129,426

(1,049,171)

7,080,255

2023
HK$'000

9,807,531
243,363

10,050,894
(1,049,171)

9,001,723

The significant interests in associates as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Name of entity

Silver Grant International
Holdings Group Limited
("Silver Grant"} (note (i)}

Sino-Rock Investment
Management Company Limited

Modern Land (China) Co. Limited
("Modern Land") (note (ii))

{ETEER AR

Place/country
of incorporation
and principal

place of Book Value
operation 2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Hong Kong 390,904 506,000
Hong Kong 231,159 223,089
The Cayman 11,554 11,553
Islands
The PRC 1,225,139 1,113,328

100

Proportion
of issued/
registered
capital held
by the Group

2024
%

19.01

20.69

9.58

40.00

2023
%

19.01

20.69

9.58

40.00

Principal activities

Property investment
and investments

tnvestment holding
and fund management
and consuitancy services

Property development

Investment holding

and provision of capital
and fund management
and consultancy services
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26.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

Interests in associates (continued)

Proportion
Ptace/country of issued/
of incorporation registered
and principal capital held
place of Book Value by the Group Principal activities
Name of entity operation 2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 % %
(SRR EARS G The PRC 62,900 64,316 30.00  30.00 Property development
WE ) ERERERAE The PRC - - 2857 2857 Property development
PR (E R S IR A B The PRC 1,080 1,103 1.30 1.30 Asset management
Edkall CAIRNE)D
Pl Rt R = 1 A The PRC 108,314 110,683 37.00  37.00 Property development
Y S LSRR EL The PRC 1,147,593 1,071,431 49.81 49.81 Property development
(A&
Cindat Capital Management The Cayman 64,659 66,957 37.00 37.00 Fund management
Limited Islands
Yancoai Australia Ltd {note (iii}) Australia 3,591,851 5,589,900 7.69 11.87 Coal mining
Yitai International (BVI) British Virgin - - 49.00 49.00 Investment holding
Holdings Ltd. Islands
(i) Two out of nine directors of Silver Grant are appointed by the Group. On 31 December

(ii)

(iii)

2024, the Hong Kong stock price of Silver Grant was HK$0.09 per share. The Group
engaged an independent valuer to perform an impairment analysis by assessing the
recoverable amount the investment as at 31 December 2024. No further impairment
loss was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$215 million).

The Group reached an agreement with the principal shareholder of Modern Land who
held 66% interest which the principal shareholder agreed to (i) guarantee that the
Group shall have representative in the board of directors; (ii) enable the Group to
participate in the key policy-making processes of Modern Land; and (iii) make sure
that the Group can obtain timely and adequate financial information from Modern
Land.

Yancoal Australia Ltd ("Yancoal") is an Australian company engaged in the
production of metallurgical and thermal coal and is dual-listed in Australia Securities
Exchanges (stock code: YAL) and the Main Board of the HKEX (stock code: 3668).
As at 31 December 2024, the Group holds 7.69% (2023: 11.87%) shareholding
interests of Yancoal, which represents the second largest shareholding interests, with
a director appointed by the Group to the board of Yancoal.
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26.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a) Interests in associates (continued)

The following represents the summarised financial information of an associate which is
individually significant to the Group's consolidated financial statements:

Yancoal

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

Current assets 17,012,886 13,551,894

Non-current assets 44,300,320 48,585,358
Current liabilities (5,930,481) (5,606,942)
Non-current liabilities (8,674,650) (9,437,639)

Total equity 46,708,075 47,092,671

Revenue 35,303,481 41,850,187

Profit for the year 6,257,876 9,787,283
Other comprehensive income for the year 452,873 (16,142)

Total comprehensive income for the year 6,710,749 9,771,141

Dividends received from the associate during the year 238,022 961,511

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the

interest in the associate recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2024

HK$'000

Net assets of the associate 46,708,075
Proportion of the Group's ownership

interest in the associate 7.69%

Carrying amount of the Group's interest in the associate 3,591,851
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2023
HK$'000

47,092,671

11.87%

5,589,900
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26.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(@)

(b)

Interests in associates (continued)

Supplementary financial information of associates that are not individually material were as
below:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000

Aggregate carrying amount of individually
immaterial associates 3,243,302 3,168,460

Aggregate amount of the Group's share

of those associates
Loss for the year (12,890) (340,131)
Other comprehensive income for the year - 8,753

Total comprehensive income for the year (12,890) (331,378)

Interests in joint ventures

The significant interests in joint ventures as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Proportion
Place/country of issued/
of incorporation registered
and principal capital held
place of Book Value by the Group Principal activities
Name of entity operation 2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 % %
EPNPER: i e ] The Cayman 245102 243,363 48 48 Investment fund

TR Gk 14 Istands

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, none of the interests in joint ventures were considered
individually significant, and their aggregate information is set out below:

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

Aggregate carrying amount of joint ventures 245,102 243,363
Aggregate amount of the Group's share of joint ventures:

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year 1,740 (3,126)

103



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

27.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

At 1 January 2,896,711 3,065,669
Decrease in fair value (240,164) (16,823)
Transferred from/(to) property, plant and equipment (Note 28) 53,100 (144,300)
Additions 1,167 -
Exchange realignment (8,607) (7,835)
At 31 December 2,702,207 2,896,711
Unrealised losses in fair value included in profit or loss (240,164) (16,823)

Investment properties of HK$1,582,100,000 (2023: HK$2,224,668,000) were used as pledged assets
for bank borrowings which bear a floating interest rate at HIBOR and a fixed margin rate of 1.75% to
4.13% (2023: 1.25% to 4.8%).

All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for
as investment properties.

The fair value of all of the Group's properties is determined using either the market comparison
approach or the income capitalization approach, adjusted for a premium or a discount specific to the
features of the Group's properties compared to the comparable properties.

The valuation methods used in the fair value are calculating significant unobservable inputs
considering the premium/(discount) on features of a property compared to comparable properties.
Capitalisation rate of 1.9% to 5.5% (2023: 2.7% to 5.5%) is determined after taking into account
various factors, such as capitalisation of rental, income potential, nature of property, and prevailing
market condition. The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.

In estimating the fair value of investment properties, the highest and best use of the investment
properties is their current use.
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

28.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The carrying value of land and buildings is analysed based on the remaining terms of the leases as
follows:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Held in Hong Kong

- On long-term lease (over 50 years) 3,028,362 3,335,303
- On medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) 3,301,563 3,816,800

Held outside Hong Kong
- On medium-term lease (10 to 50 years) 699,107 825,595
- On short-term lease (less than 10 years) 73,491 84,532
7,102,523 8,062,230

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, land and buildings were included in the consolidated statement
of financial position at valuation carried out on the basis of their fair value by independent valuers.
The fair value represents the price that would be received to sell each building in an orderly transaction
with market participants at the measurement date.

As a result of the above-mentioned revaluations, decrease in value of land and buildings of
HK$562,686,000 (2023: Decrease in HK$67,978,000) were recognised in the property revaluation
reserve and the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income.

As at 31 December 2024, the net book value of land and buildings that would have been included in
the consolidated statement of financial position had the land and buildings been carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation was HK$6,184,644,000 (2023: HK$6,413,344,000).

Aircraft are assessed for recoverability in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets, at each
reporting date or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying value may
not be recoverable. No impairment charge has been recorded in for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

The directors deveiop the assumptions used in the recoverability assessment based on their
knowledge of active lease contracts, current and future expectations of the global demand for
particular aircraft types and historical experience in the aircraft leasing market and aviation industry,
as well as information received from third party sources.

The factors considered in estimating the future cash flows are impacted by changes in contracted
lease rates, future projected lease rates, transition costs, estimated downtime, estimated residual
values, economic conditions, technology and airline demand for particular aircraft types. These
estimated cashflows were discounted at an average rate of 3.7% (2023: 4.1%) per annum.
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

29.

30.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Completed properties

Properties under development

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost:
At 1 January 2024
Additions
Disposals
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2024

Accumulated amortisation:

At 1 January 2024
Charge for the year
Disposals

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2024

Carrying amount:
At 1 January 2024

At 31 December 2024

Cost:
At 1 January 2023
Additions
Disposals
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2023

Accumulated amortisation:

At 1 January 2023
Charge for the year
Disposals

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2023

Carrying amount:
At 1 January 2023

At 31 December 2023

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
2,057,474 3,079,607
10,132,724 9,665,432
12,190,198 12,745,039
Computer
Credit card Core software
customer Trade deposits systems
relationships names intangible and others Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
8,999 690,938 4,216,972 1,503,662 6,420,571
- - - 907,529 907,529
- - - (5,543) (5,543)
- - - (19,347) (19,347)
8,999 690,938 4,216,972 2,386,301 7,303,210
6,825 - 1,598,937 615,074 2,220,836
900 - 210,849 148,024 359,773
- - - (93) (93)
- - - (13,058) (13,058)
7,725 - 1,809,786 749,947 2,567,458
2,174 690,938 2,618,035 888,588 4,199,735
1,274 690,938 2,407,186 1,636,354 4,735,752
8,999 690,938 4,216,972 1,184,874 6,101,783
- - - 327,455 327,455
- . - (3) 3)
- - - (8,664) (8,664)
8,999 690,938 4,216,972 1,503,662 6,420,571
5,925 - 1,388,088 513,072 1,907,085
900 - 210,849 108,480 320,229
- - - (6,478) (6,478)
6,825 - 1,598,937 615,074 2,220,836
3,074 690,938 2,828,884 671,802 4,194,698
2,174 690,938 2,618,035 888,588 4,199,735
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

31. GOODWILL

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000

Cost:
At beginning of the year 25,851,817 25,851,817

Accumulated impairment provisions:
At beginning of the year (708,030)

Impairment loss provided for the year (708,03(;)

At end of the year (708,030) (708,030)
Carrying amount:

At beginning of the year 25,143,787 25,851,817

At end of the year 25,143,787 25,143,787

The goodwill acquired from business combination is assessed for impairment at each annual financial
reporting date. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal
and the present value of the estimated future cash flow expected to be derived from the asset (value
in use, "VIU").

The goodwill acquired through the business combination of NCB in 2016 is allocated to the NCB cash
generating units ("CGU") for impairment testing. The Group compared the fair value less costs of
disposal and the VIU of the CGU, and the recoverable amount of the CGU was determined as its VIU.

The recoverable amount of the NCB CGU has been determined based on a value-in-use calculation
method, using cash flow projections based on both financial forecasts covering a 5-year period
approved by senior management, with extrapolated projections for the subsequent 5 years. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, the net carrying amount of the goodwill was HK$25,144 million, with a cost
of HK$25,852 million and an accumulated impairment provisions of HK$708 million. The Group
accrued goodwill impairment losses were HK$Nil (2023: HK$708 million) during the year ended 31
December 2024.

The stable growth rates used to extrapolate the cash flows of the NCB CGU beyond the 10-year period
are fixed at 1.36% (for the year ended 31 December 2023: 1.20%) (Hong Kong) and 1.58% (for the
year ended 31 December 2023: 1.90%) (Mainland China), respectively, which do not exceed the long-
term average growth rate of the banking industry. The pre-tax discount rates applied to the goodwill
impairment testing are 10.60% (for the year ended 31 December 2023: 10.47%) (Hong Kong) and
10.44% (for the year ended 31 December 2023: 10.43%) (Mainland China), respectively.

For the goodwill impairment testing, the Group makes the following assumptions on the key
hypothesis in the process of cash flow projection: (i) Discount rate: pre-tax discount rate refiecting the
specific risk of the relevant cash-generating units; (ii) Cash flow's growth rate: based on both the past
performance and the projection of market development. The information used by the Group in
determining these key assumptions is consistent with external information and internal information.
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

32. DEFERRED TAX

For the purpose of presentation of the consolidated statement of financial position, certain deferred
tax assets and liabilities have been offset.

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities

2024
HK$'000

(769,526)

1,859,925

1,090,399

2023
HK$'000

(840,258)
1,503,150

662,892

The following are the Group's major deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised and movements
thereon during the current and prior year:

At 1 January 2023

(Credited)/charged to
profit or loss

Credited to other
comprehensive income

Exchange alignment

At 31 December 2023

(Credited)/charged to
profit or loss

Credited to other
comprehensive income

Exchange alignment

At 31 December 2024

33. OTHER ASSETS

Other receivable (Note)
Interest receivable

Assets in satisfaction of debts

Dividend receivable

Long-term prepaid expenses

Precious metals
Lease premium asset
Others

Less: Allowances for impairment losses

110

9,600,116

Asset
revaluation
from Fair value Accrued
acquisition change of interest
ofa  Impairment Property financial ofaPRC
subsidiary  allowances revaluation assets subsidiary Others Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
593,812 (562,685) 996,657  (105,663) 8,333  (303,058) 627,396
(47,472) 82,758 (17,709) (17,069)  (33,161) (104,104) (136,757)
- - 2,913 159,548 - (512) 161,949
- 10,581 - 4,246 (685) (3.838) 10,304
546,340 (469,346) 981,861 41,062 (25,513) (411,512) 662,892
(22,402) 155,078 120,212 170,883 137,484  (173,570) 387,685
- (10,954) (89,799) - 171,021 70,268
- 3,280 - 21,104 782 (55,612) (30,446)
523,938 (310,988) 1,091,119 143,250 112,753  (469,673) 1,090,399
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
5,289,339 5,766,804
21,223 3,287
3,160,940 554,999
4,274 -
969,249 214,237
118,676 284,266
13,235 38,725
74,066 69,954
(50,886) (44,897)

6,887,375



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

33.

34.

OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Note:

Other receivables mainly include receivables relating to assets disposal, and accounts receivables
arising from the Group's banking business.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

Bank borrowings - secured (note (i)) 5,863,427 326,190
Bank borrowings - unsecured (note (ii)) 43,608,732 50,221,961
Other borrowings - unsecured 4,706,276 264,112
54,178,435 50,812,263

Interest payable 357,602 252,759

Notes:

(i)

(i)

54,536,037 51,065,022

Bank borrowings of HK$5,863,427,000 (2023: HK$326,190,000) were secured by investment
properties and inventories amounting to approximately HK$1,582,100,000 (2023:
HK$431,506,698) and HK$8,085,631,000 (2023: HK$Nil) respectively.

Bank borrowings of HK$22.2 billion (2023: HK$19.8 billion) was covered by Keepwell Deed
entered with China Cinda, the immediate holding company of the Group.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was complying with the financial covenant of bank
borrowings.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group was not complying with a financial covenant of a bank
borrowing at an aggregate amount of HK$771,758,075. The lending bank had not demanded
early repayment of the borrowing from the Group. Subsequent to the date of financial
statements, the Group signed an amendment letter with the bank lender to revise the
aforementioned covenant and the non- compliance of this covenant was rectified.

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000

Carrying amount repayable*:
Within one year 21,441,415 22,163,962
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 22,337,722 2,048,940
More than two years, but not exceeding five years 9,060,263 22,395,082
More than five years 1,339,035 4,204,279
Interest payable 357,602 252,759
54,536,037 51,065,022
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

34. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

*The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

The variable rates of borrowings used by the Group were floating based on the benchmark interest
rates of deposits or loans published by Secured Overnight Financing Rate(SOFR), Hong Kong Inter-
bank Offered Rate ("HIBOR"), Tokyo Overnight Average Rate ("TONAR"), Loan Prime Rate (LPR).

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to contractual interest rates) on the Group's
borrowings are as follows:

2024 2023

Effective interest rate
Variable-rate borrowings 3.50% - 7.74% 2.94%-6.90%

35. PLACEMENTS FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Precious metal lending - 694,294
Placements from banks 6,411,760 11,004,606
Placements from financial institutions 431,946 -
6,843,706 11,698,900

36. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Derivative financial instruments (Note 22) 776,162 1,351,573
Short position in securities 183,388 1,793,057
Short position in exchange fund bills and notes 6,200,098 5,784,773
7,159,648 8,929,403
37. FINANCIAL ASSETS SOLD UNDER REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000

By collateral type:
- Debt securities 4,864,704 22,260,561
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CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

38. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Investment payable

Accounts payable due to electronic and clearing items
Trade payable due to brokerage services

Accounts payable due to banking services

39. TAX PAYABLE

0] Current income tax liability

Corporate income tax

(i) Other tax liability

Value-added tax of land

Value-added tax

Withholding and payment of additional taxes
City maintenance construction tax
Extra-charge for education

House property tax

Others

Total tax payable

113

2024
HK$'000

249,641
2,256
195,732

247,697

695,326

2024
HK$'000

184,843

2024
HK$'000

69,933
93,866
2,659
4,321
3,083
751

2,670

177,283

362,126

2023
HK$'000

44,803
4,695
265,649

42,743

357,890

2023
HK$'000

820,644

2023
HK$'000

103,143
67,901
5,938
4,707
3,354
596

819

186,458

1,007,102



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

40.

BONDS ISSUED

Bond Name

US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guarariteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
USS$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
USS$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
CNY Guaranteed Senior Notes
US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes
2022 Corporation Bonds (5-year)
2022 Corporation Bonds (5-year)
2024 Corporation Bonds (5-year)
2024 Corporation Bonds (4-year)
2024 Corporation Bonds (4-year)
2024 Corporation Bonds (4-year)
2020-1l Financial Bonds
2021-1 Financial Bonds
2021-il Financial Bonds
2022-| Financial Bonds
2022-I1 Financial Bonds
2023-| Financial Bonds
2023-/l Financial Bonds
2023-1ll Financial Bonds
2023-IV Financial Bonds
2023-V Financial Bonds
2023-VI Financial Bonds
2023-VIl Financial Bonds
2023-VIll Financial Bonds
2023 NCB China CD003
2023 NCB China CD005
2023 NCB China CD006
2023 NCB China CD007
2023 NCB China CD008
2023 NCB China CD009
2023 NCB China CD012
2023 NCB China CD013
2023 NCB China CD014
2023 NCB China CD015
2023 NCB China CD016
2023 NCB China CDB017
2023 NCB China CD018
2023 NCB China CD020
2023 NCB China CD021
2023 NCB China CD022
2023 NCB China CD023
2023 NCB China CD024
2023 NCB China CD025
2023 NCB China CD026
2023 NCB China CD027
2023 NCB China CD028
2023 NCB China CD029
2023 NCB China CD030
2023 NCB China CD031
2023 NCB China CD032
2023 NCB China CD033
2023 NCB China CD034
2023 NCB China CD035
2023 NCB China CD036
2023 NCB China CD037
2023 NCB China CD038
2023 NCB China CD039
2023 NCB China CD040
2023 NCB China CD041
2023 NCB China CD042
2023 NCB China CD043

Notes

(i), (v)
(). (i)
0. ()
(). (i)
(). (v)
(0. (v)
(i, (i)
i) ()
(), i)
0, ()
(0. (i)
(i, (i)

Face Value

500,000
100,000
230,000
90,000
1,700,000
700,000
700,000
300,000
1,200,000
200,000
200,000
600,000
500,000
500,000
800,000
545,000
500,000
300,000
500,000
300,000
800,000
400,000
500,000
1,000,000
1,500,000
400,000
1,500,000
500,000
1,400,000
100,000
1,000,000
5,000,000
500,000
2,000,000
500,000
1,000,000
1,500,000
200,000
300,000
200,000
800,000
300,000
700,000
100,000
900,000
50,000
40,000
750,000
400,000
40.000
340,000
30,000
50,000
300,000
100,000
100,000
100,000
180,000
260,000
120,000
100,000
220,000
100,000
50,000
50,000
250,000
50,000
320,000
250,000
920,000
80,000
120,000
130,000
40,000
960,000
130,000
50,000
40,000
50,000
200,000
50,000
100,000

Currency

uss
us$
Uss
uss
uss
uss$
us$
uUss
uss
usg
uss
uss
us$
uss
uss
uss
Us$
uss
uss
uss
uss
us$
us$
Us$
RMB
Uss
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
RMB
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Issue Date

2014/5
2015/2
2014/12
2014/12
2015/4
2017/3
2017/3
2018/2
2018/2
2018/2
201972
201972
2024/7
2024/7
2024/5
2017112
2020/3
2020/3
2020/3
2021/1
20211
2021/1
2021/1
2022/1
2023/5
2023/8
2022/3
2022/6
2024/3
2024/3
2024/4
202477
2020/12
202112
2021/12
202211
2022/3
2023/3
2023/3
2023/6
2023/6
202317
202317
2023/9
2023/9
202312
2023/2
2023/2
2023/2
202372
2023/2
2023/3
2023/4
2023/4
2023/4
2023/4
2023/4
2023/4
2023/4
2023/4
2023/5
2023/7
2023/10
2023/10
2023/10
2023/10
2023/11
2023/11
2023/11
2023/11
2023/11
2023/11
2023/11
2023/12
2023/12
202312
2023/12
2023/12
2023/12
2023/12
2023/12
2023/12

Maturity Date

2024/5
2030/2
2029/12
2029/12
2025/4
2024/3
2027/3
2025/2
2028/2
2048/2
202472
2029/2
202717
2030/1
2029/5
2037/12
2025/3
2027/3
203073
2026/1
20311
2028/1
20241
2027/1
2026/5
2027/2
2026/3
2026/6
2029/3
2028/3
2028/4
2028/7
2025/12
2024112
2026/12
2027/1
2025/3
2026/3
2028/3
2026/6
2028/6
2026/7
202877
2026/9
2028/9
2024/2
2024/2
2024/2
202472
2024/2
202472
2024/3
2024/4
2024/4
202411
2024/4
2024/1
2024/4
202474
202411
202415
202477
2024/1
2024/7
2024/4
2024/4
2024/5
2024111
2024/8
2024/5
2024/11
2024/11
2024111
2024/3
2024/6
2024/3
2024/12
2024/3
2024/6
2024/3
2024/6
2024/9

Bond Rate

5.63%
5.20%
5.20%
5.20%
4.25%
4.10%
4.40%
4.38%
4.75%
5.00%
4.00%
4.75%
5.38%
5.50%
5.75%
4.75%
2.50%
3.00%
3.13%
1.88%
3.00%
2.50%
1.25%
3.25%
3.70%
5.75%
3.90%
3.90%
3.37%
3.10%
277%

2024
HK$'000

N/A
789,253
1,784,657
700,368
13,215,224
N/A
5,501,557
2,214,520
9,477,808
1,558,121
N/A
4,727,848
3,968,822
3,963,744
6,232,171
3,912,232
3,832,366
2,264,930
3,839,007
2,325,578
5,084,389
2,752,494
N/A
7,788,127
1,623,336

3,171,495
548,200
332,590
1,549,183
110,492
1,098,711
544,961
540,536
N/A
540,388
1,115,362
1,661,185
221,753
333,150
219,259
878,604
327,980
766,400
108,946
981,443
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

NIA

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

2023
HK$'000

3,028,764
793,327
1,793,068
704,018
13,378,085
5,531,102
5,530,283
2,383,478
9,527,390
1,566,807
1,585,102
4,753,619
N/A

N/A

N/A
3,879,488
3,927,283
2,269,742
3,850,566
2,337,918
5,995,524
2,878,831
3,879,851
7,831,625
1,657,393
3,185,285
1,702,202
561,942
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A
552,190
2,208,538
552,074
1,139,499
1,696,965
226,531
340,366
223,984
897,636
335,049
783,001
111,294
1,002,703
55,001
43,991
824,579
439,737
43,969
373,578
32,890
54,782
328,559
110,261
109,510
110,220
207,977
284,472
132,165
109,298
239,610
110,270
54,446
54,769
273,666
54,634
344,719
271,139
1,004,561
86,119
129,080
139,806
43,897
1,045,859
142,654
53,707
43,887
54,461
219,383
54,471
108,145



CHINA CINDA (HK) HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2024

40.

BONDS ISSUED (continued)

Bond Name Notes Face Value  Currency  lIssue Date Maturity Date Bond Rate 2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000

2024-] Financial Bonds (ix} 200,000 RMB 2024/1 2027/ 2.85% 221,547 N/A
2024-11 Financial Bonds (ix) 800,000 RMB 2024/1 2029/1 3.00% 887,297 N/A
2024-11l Financial Bonds (ix) 500,000 RMB 202413 2027/3 2.64% 551,293 N/A
2024-IV Financial Bonds {ix) 1,000,000 RMB 2024/3 2029/3 2.7%% 1,103,804 N/A
2024-V Financial Bonds {ix) 500,000 RMB 202417 202717 2.20% 545,066 N/A
2024-V| Financial Bonds (ix) 500,000 RMB 2024/7 2029/7 2.35% 545,412 N/A
2024-VIl Financial Bonds (ix) 450,000 RMB 2024/9 2027/9 2.20% 488,900 N/A
2024-VIll Financial Bonds {ix) 550,000 RMB 20249 2029/9 2.35% 597,798 N/A
2024 NCB China CD014 {x) 200,000 RMB 2024/4 2025/4 215% 214,518 N/A
2024 NCB China CD021 (x) 150,000 RMB 2024/10 2025/1 1.92% 161,853 N/A
2024 NCB China CD022 {x) 100,000 RMB 2024/10 20251 1.93% 107,867 N/A
2024 NCB China CD025 (x) 50,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/3 1.88% 53,825 N/A
2024 NCB China CD026 x) 50,000 RMB 2024/12 20251 1.80% 53,965 N/A
2024 NCB China CD027 {x) 800,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/3 1.85% 860,886 N/A
2024 NCB China CD028 (x) 70,000 RMB 2024112 20251 1.80% 75,548 N/A
2024 NCB China CD029 x) 800,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/3 1.81% 860,908 N/A
2024 NCB China CD030 {x) 400,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/3 1.78% 430,458 N/A
2024 NCB China CD031 (x) 400,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/3 1.78% 430,458 N/A
2024 NCB China CD032 (x) 850,000 RMB 2024112 2025/3 1.76% 814,582 N/A
2024 NCB China CD033 (x) 300,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/3 1.72% 322,805 N/A
2024 NCB China CD034 (x) 750,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/3 1.76% 806,867 N/A
2024 NCB China CD035 (x} 50,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/1 1.83% 53,934 N/A
2024 NCB China CD036 (x) 100,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/3 1.73% 107,569 N/A
2024 NCB China CD037 (x) 50,000 RMB 2024112 2025/3 1.71% 53,784 N/A
2024 NCB China CD038 (x) 50,000 RMB 2024112 20251 1.75% 53,929 N/A
2024 NCB China CD039 {x} 500,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/3 1.75% 537,741 N/A
2024 NCB China CD040 {x) 400,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/3 1.70% 430,163 N/A
2024 NCB China CD041 (x) 80,000 RMB 2024/12 2025/1 1.70% 86,248 N/A
2024 NCB Subordinated Notes | (xi) 14,600 usp 2024/8 2025/2 5.05% 115,384 N/A
2024 NCB Subordinated Notes Il (xi) 700,000 usD 2024/6 2034/6 6.00% 5,521,800 N/A
Subordinated Notes {viii) 700,000 usD 2019/11 2029/11 3.80% N/A 5,468,028
120,703,497 118,760,824

As at 31 December 2024, bonds issued included accrued interest of HK$1,697,816,000 (2023:

HK$1,429,011,000).

Notes:

(i

The US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes ("US$ Notes") issued by China Cinda Finance (2014)
Limited, China Cinda Finance (2014) II Limited, China Cinda Finance (2015) | Limited, China
Cinda Finance (2017) | Limited and China Cinda Finance (2017) Ill Limited, subsidiaries of
the Group, have fixed coupon rates, payable semi-annually. At any time prior to the date of
maturity of the US$ Notes, the issuer or the Company may redeem the US$ Notes, in whole
or in part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of (i) 100% of the principal amount of the
US$ Notes redeemed or (ii) the sum of the present value of the remaining scheduled
payments of principal and interest on the US$ Notes redeemed (not including interest accrued
to the date of redemption), discounted at the U.S. treasury bond rate pius 40 basis points in
the case of the 5-year US$ Notes and 50 basis points in the case of the 10-year US$ Notes,
plus any accrued and unpaid interest.

Early redemption options were regarded as embedded derivatives not closely related to the
host contracts. The Directors consider that the fair value of the above early redemption
options was insignificant on initial recognition and as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December
2023.
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40. BONDS ISSUED (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

The US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes ("US$ Notes") issued by China Cinda (2020) |
Management Limited, subsidiaries of the Group, have fixed coupon rates, payable semi-
annually. Atany time prior to the date of maturity of the US$ Notes, the issuer or the Company
may redeem the US$ Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of
(i) 100% of the principal amount of the US$ Notes redeemed or (ii) the sum of the present
value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the US$ Notes
redeemed, discounted at the U.S. treasury bond rate plus 25 basis points.

Early redemption options were regarded as embedded derivatives not closely related to the
host contracts. The Directors consider that the fair value of the above early redemption
options was insignificant on initial recognition and as at 31 December 2024,

The US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes ("US$ Notes") issued by China Cinda (2020) |
Management Limited, subsidiaries of the Group, have fixed coupon rates, payable semi-
annually. At anytime prior to the date of maturity of the US$ Notes, the issuer or the Company
may redeem the US$ Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to the greater of
(i) 100% of the principal amount of the US$ Notes redeemed or (ii) the sum of the present
value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest on the US$ Notes
redeemed, discounted at the U.S. treasury bond rate plus 20 basis points.

Early redemption options were regarded as embedded derivatives not closely related to the
host contracts. The Directors consider that the fair value of the above early redemption
options was insignificant on initial recognition and as at 31 December 2024.

The US$ Guaranteed Senior Notes ("US$ Notes") issued by China Cinda (2020) |
Management Limited, subsidiaries of the Group, have fixed coupon rates, payable semi-
annually. At anytime prior to the date of maturity of the US$ Notes, the issuer or the Company
may redeem the US$ Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the US$ Notes redeemed.

The CNY Guaranteed Senior Notes ("CNY Notes") issued by China Cinda (2020) 1
Management Limited, subsidiaries of the Group, have fixed coupon rates, payable semi-
annually. At anytime prior to the date of maturity of the CNY Notes, the issuer or the Company
may redeem the CNY Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the CNY Notes redeemed.

Bonds payable of HK$39,969 million (2023: HK$51,475 million) was covered by Keepwell
Deed entered with China Cinda. Under the Keepwell Deed:

(a) each of the issuer and the Group to have a Consolidated Net Worth of at least
US$1.00 at all times;

(b) each of the notes issuer and the Group to have sufficient liquidity to ensure timely
payment by each of the note issuer and the Group; and

(c) each of the note issuer and the Group to remain solvent and a going concern at ail

times under the laws of their respective jurisdictions of incorporation or applicable
accounting standards.
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40.

41.

BONDS ISSUED (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

x)

(xi)

The corporation bonds issued by EZEEFRI CGEHI) BIR 2], a subsidiary of the Group,
carry fixed coupon rates, payable annually. The subsidiary shall be entitled to adjust the
coupon rate, and the investors shall be entitled to sell back the relevant corporate bonds to
the subsidiary, at the end of the second year.

The corporation bonds issued by EEEFRILL CFYI1) BRRZAE, a subsidiary of the Group,
carry fixed coupon rates, payable annually. The subsidiary shall be entitled to adjust the
coupon rate, and the investors shall be entitled to sell back the relevant corporate bonds to
the subsidiary, at the end of the third year.

The US$700,000,000 Basel lll compliant 10-year subordinated notes qualifying as Tier 2
capital of NCB were issued on 20 November 2019 in accordance with the Banking (Capital)
Rules, which are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The notes will mature on
20 November 2029 with an optional redemption date falling on 20 November 2024. Interest
at 3.80% per annum is payable semi-annually from the issue date to the optional redemption
date. Thereafter, if the notes are not redeemed, the interest rate will be reset and the notes
will bear interest at the prevailing 5-year U.S. treasury rate plus 218 basis points. NCB may,
subject to receiving the prior approval of the HKMA, redeem the notes at its option in whole
but not in part, at par either on the optional redemption date or for tax or regulatory reasons
at any time prior to maturity of the notes.

The financial bonds issued by Nanyang Commercial Bank (China), Limited ("NCB China"), a
subsidiary of NCB, have fixed coupon rates, payable annually.

The subordinated notes were issued by Nanyang Commercial Bank (Hong Kong), Limited
during the year ended 31 December 2024 with face value totally USD714,600,000 with bond
rate 5.05% and 6.00% respectively.

DUE TO CUSTOMERS

(i)

Deposits from customers

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000

Demand deposits
- Corporate 52,211,860 57,480,463
- Personal 43,354,470 38,266,653

Time deposits

- Corporate 117,938,774 138,917,983
- Personal 189,100,865 147,910,511
Guarantee deposits 11,789,320 14,895,606
414,395,289 397,471,216
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41. DUE TO CUSTOMERS (continued)
(i) Hedge accounting
Hedges of net investments in Mainland operations
As at 31 December 2024, a proportion of the Group's RMB-denominated deposits from
customers of HK$1,921,541,000 (2023: HK$1,992,543,000) were designated as a hedging
instrument to hedge against the net investments in Mainland China operations.
There were no gains or losses on ineffective portion recognised in the income statement

during the year (2023: Nil).

42. DEPOSITS FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Banks 6,537,264 2,537,454
Financial institutions 3,500,405 16,947,171
10,037,669 19,484,625
43. OTHER LIABILITIES

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Lease liabilities (Note 46) 700,868 832,617
Payables to interest holders of consolidated structured entities - 785,450
Other payable 825,761 727,357
Contract liabilities 9,813 708,230
ltems in the process of clearance and settlement 1,170,219 657,564
Staff compensation payable 433,679 507,075
Provisions (note (i)) 440,524 448,582
Other receipts in advance 79,438 150,421
Accrued maintenance liabilities 116,562 123,334
Promissory note 197,696 116,947

Impairment allowances for loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts (note (ii)) 45,951 104,978
Defined benefit schemes (note (jii)) 104,332 92,336
Continuing involvement liabilities 70,315 -
Others 235,325 118,492

4,430,483 5,373,383
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43. OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

Provisions

At beginning of the year
(Reversed)/accrued for the year

At end of the year

Impairment allowances for loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts

At 1 January 2024

Addition

Derecognised

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Impact on period end ECLs of
exposures transferred between
stages during the period

Changes to inputs used for
impairment calculations

Exchange difference

At 31 December 2024

At 1 January 2023

Addition

Derecognised

Transfers to Stage 2

Transfers to Stage 3

Impact on period end ECLs of
exposures transferred between
stages during the period

Changes to inputs used for
impairment calculations

Exchange difference

At 31 December 2023

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

448,582 436,241

(8,058) 12,341

440,524 448,582

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
101,996 6 2,976 104,978
95,076 - - 95,076
(96,461) (5) - (96,466)
(34) 34 - -

6 226 - 232
(55,811) (28) 518 (55,321)
(2,850) (8) 310 (2,548)
41,922 225 3,804 45,951
171,931 16,387 - 188,318
46,210 - - 46,210
(103,676) (16,387) - (120,063)
(329) 329 - -

) - 4 -

1 (327) 2,972 2,646
(9,566) 4 - (9,562)
(2,571) - - (2,571)
101,996 6 2,976 104,978
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43. OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)
Notes: (continued)

iii) Defined benefit schemes

A subsidiary of the Group operates an unfunded defined benefit plan for all its retired
employees. Under the plan, the employees are entitled to retirement benefits which included

fully redeemed medical care, housing allowance and other retirement benefits.

The plan is exposed to interest rate risk and the risk of changes in the life expectancy for

pensioners.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value of the defined benefit obligations
were carried out at 31 December 2024 by using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation

method.

Movement of retirement benefit of the Group are as follows:

At beginning of the year

Current service cost

Past service cost - plan amendment
Net interest cost

Actuarial losses/(gains) on remeasurement

Benefit paid

At end of the year

Principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows:

Discount rate

Expected rate of medical insurance cost increases
Expected rate of social entertainment cost increases
Expected rate of retirement souvenir cost increases

Expected rate of rental increases
Expected rate of withdrawal
Expected death rate

120

2024
HK$'000

92,336
1,954

3,439
10,258
(3,655)

104,332

2024

3.9%

6.0%

0.0%

0.0%

2.0%

1% - 20%
Hong Kong
Life Tables
2023

2023
HK$'000

106,770
1,660

3,940
(15,805)
(4,229)

__ 92336

2023

3.8%

6.0%

0.0%

0.0%

3.0%

3% - 18%
Hong Kong
Life Tables
2022
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44.

45.

46.

SHARE CAPITAL
2024
HK$'000
Issued and fully paid:
24,689,500,000 (2023: 24,689,500,000) ordinary shares 24,975,487

There was no movement in share capital of the Company in 2024 and 2023.

OTHER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS ISSUED BY A SUBSIDIARY

2024
HK$'000

Other equity instruments 7,422,026

2023
HK$'000

24,975,487

2023
HK$'000

7,422,026

On 7 March 2023, NCB issued perpetual non-cumulative subordinated additional tier 1 capital
securities with a face value of US$300 million, which bear a 7.35% coupon until the first call date on

7 March 2028.

The coupon will be reset every five years if the additional equity instruments are not redeemed to a
fixed rate equivalent to the then-prevailing five-year US Treasury rate plus a fixed initial spread.

During the year of 2024, NCB has distributed coupon payment of US$53 million (2023: US$53 million)

to the holders of the equity instruments.

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

(a) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under other liabilities) and the movements

during the year are as follows:

2024

HK$'000

Carrying amount at 1 January 832,617
New leases 107,138
Accretion of interest recognized during the year 29,621
Payments (277,970)
Disposal (3,101)
Exchange alignment 12,563
Carrying amount at 31 December 700,868
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2023
HK$'000

908,339

195,032

20,629
(278,533)
(1,440)
(11,410)

832,617
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46. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2024

HK$'000

Interest on lease liabilities 29,621

Amortisation charge of right-of-use assets (Note 28) 261,380
Expenses relating to short-term leases and low-value

assets (included in other operating expenses) 72,327

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 363,328

The Group as a lessor

2023
HK$'000

20,629
260,557

_ 55338

_336,524

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the following future

minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases:

2024

HK$'000

Within one year 247,719
In the second year 238,840
In the third year 210,877
In the fourth year 193,411
In the fifth year 116,251
Later than five years 183,397

1,190,495

47. LITIGATION, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

(a) Outstanding litigation cases

2023
HK$'000

331,632
347,978
334,663
258,427
188,875

__668,030

2,130,505

NCB, a subsidiary of the Group, has been served a number of claims and counterclaims by
various independent parties. These claims and counterclaims are in relation to the normal

commercial activities of NCB.

No material provision was made against these claims and counterclaims because the
directors believe that NCB has meritorious defenses against the claimants or the amounts

involved in these claims are not expected to be material.
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47. LITIGATION, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS (continued)

(b) Contingent liabilities

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Direct credit substitutes 14,907,771 22,417,172
Transaction-related contingencies 3,249,192 1,910,983
Trade-related contingencies 31,474,074 29,152,270
Asset sales with recourse 2,639,007 664,860
Commitments that are unconditionally

cancellable without prior notice 157,121,221 135,801,299

Other commitments with an original maturity of
- up to one year 1,438,910 3,427,209
- over one year 13,820,773 11,095,086
224,650,948 204,468,879

(c) Capital commitments

The Group has the following outstanding capital commitments not provided for the
consolidated financial statements:

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

Authorised and contracted but not provided for 18,308 612,171
Authorised but not contracted for 11,190 72,974

29,498 685,145

The above capital commitments mainly relate to commitments to purchase computer
equipment and software, and to renovate the Group's premises.
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48.

49.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

Borrowings Bank
from central and other
bank borrowings Bonds issued
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 1 January 2023 - 36,873,913 133,081,281
Interest expense (note 12) - 2,396,505 4,684,434
Interest paid - (2,231,251) (6,178,137)
Changes from financing cash flows - 11,031,828 (13,388,735)
Foreign exchange movement - 2,994,027 561,981
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 - 51,065,022 118,760,824
Interest expense (note 12) - 2,918,735 4,758,465
Interest paid - (2,815,413) (7,109,848)
Changes from others financing cash flows 13,533 3,568,879 4,610,501
Foreign exchange movement - (201,186) (316,445)
At 31 December 2024 13,533 54,536,037 120,703,497
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) During the year, the Group had the following transactions with related parties:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
Interest income 13,661 31
Interest expense (notes (i), (ii), (iv)) 992,702 769,959
Service fee income 17,057 18,670
Management expense 3,392 73,125
(b) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had the following balances with related parties:

2024

HK$'000

Deposits from fellow subsidiaries (note (ii)) 14,144,696
Amounts due from immediate holding company (note (iii)) 146,296
Loans payable to immediate holding company (note (iv}) 4,852,534
Amounts due to immediate holding company (note (iii)) 107,987
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (note (iii)) 9,663

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (note (iii)) -
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2023
HK$'000

3,622,165
133,605

110,349
1,330
288,198
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(@

Notes:

(i) The aggregate amount of expenses of the Group arising from these transactions with
the Company's immediate holding company for the year ended 31 December 2024
was HK$890,137,107 (2023: HK$720,590,947).

(ii) The aggregate amount of expenses of the Group arising from these transactions with

fellow subsidiaries of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
HK$56,457,000 (2023: HK$49,173,681).

(iii) The balances were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(iv) Loans payable to immediate holding company were unsecured, bearing fixed interest
at 1.75% to 4.45% (2023: nil) and repayable within 1 year (2023: nil).

As at 31 December 2024, bonds payable of approximately HK$40.0 billion (2023: HK$51.5
billion) were issued by the Group under a Keepwell Deed provided by its immediate holding
company (Note 40(vi)).

As at 31 December 2024, bank borrowings of HK$22.2 billion (2023: HK$19.8 billion) were
issued by the Group under a Keepwell Deed provided by its immediate holding company
(Note 34(ii)).

The Group is controlled by China Cinda, which is indirectly controlled by the PRC government
through the Ministry of Finance (the "MOF"). MOF is the major shareholder of China Cinda
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. For the current and prior years, the Group undertakes
transactions with certain entities directly or indirectly owned by the PRC government,
including but not limited to making bank deposits, receiving banking facilities, renting
properties and rendering and obtaining other services. The Group is of opinion that these
transactions are in normal business terms that do not require separate disclosure.

Compensation of key management personnel, which refers to the directors of the Company,
is disclosed in Note 17.

The Group is subject to the control of the Ministry of Finance of the Government of the
People's Republic of China, which also directly or indirectly controls a significant number of
entities through its government authorities, agencies, affiliates and other state controlied
entities. The Group enters into banking transactions with government authorities, agencies,
affiliates and other state controlled entities in the normal course of business at commercial
terms.

These transactions include, but are not limited to, the following:

- lending, provision of credits and guarantees, and deposit taking; inter-bank balance
taking and placing;
- sales, purchases, underwriting and redemption of bonds issued by other state

controlled entities;
- rendering of foreign exchange, remittance and investment related services; provision

of fiduciary activities; and
- purchase of utilities, transport, telecommunications and postage services.
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50.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

Name of entity

China Cinda (HK) Asset
Management Co Limited

Regent Star International Limited
China Cinda Foundation

Management Company Limited

China Cinda (HK) Investments
Management Company Limited

Cinda (China) investments
Company Limited

China Cinda (Macau) Asset
Management Company Limited

Weill Kent International Holdings
{Macau) Company Limited

Well Kent Intemnational

Holdings Company Limited
China Cinda Finance (2014} il Limited
China Cinda Finance (2014) Limited
China Cinda Finance (2015) | Limited
China Cinda Finance (2015} Il Limited
Kunyu Investment Limited
Cinda Financial Holdings Co Limited
Harvest Breeze Company Limited
Y (Ll RRITEARAS
China Cinda Finance {2017) | Limited
China Cinda Finance (2017) i Limited
China Cinda Finance (2017) Ili Limited

Jade Aviation, LLC

Zhongchang International
Holdings Group Limited

Peace Concord International Limited

Place/country
of incorporation

Hong Kong

British Virgin
Istands

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Macau

Macau

Hong Kong
British Virgin
Islands

British Virgin
islands

British Virgin
Islands

British Virgin
Islands

British Virgin
Islands

Hong Kong
The Cayman
Islands

The PRC
British Virgin
Islands

British Virgin
Istands

British Virgin
Islands

The Cayman
Islands/Ireland

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Paid up/
registered
share issued capital

HK$2 ordinary
shares

US$1 ordinary
share

HK$2 ordinary
shares

HK$1 ordinary
share

HK$10,000
ordinary shares

MOP$100,000
ordinary share

MOP$100,000
ordinary share

HK$1,000,000
ordinary shares

US$1 ordinary
share

US$1 ordinary
share

US$1 ordinary
share

US$1 ordinary
share

US$1 ordinary
share

HK$68,000,001,000
ordinary shares

US$1 ordinary
share

US$100,000,000
ordinary shares

US$1 ordinary
share

US$1 ordinary
share

US$1 ordinary
share

US$87,439,794
ordinary shares

HK$1 ordinary
share

HK$50,000
ordinary shares
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Proportion ownership
interest heid by the Company (%

Direct
2024 2023
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
- 100
- 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100

Indirect Principal activities

2024 2023
Investment in
securities and
investment holding

Project investments

investment in fund

Investment in
securities and
investment
holding

Investment holding
Investment
consultancy
services
Investment
consultancy

services

Investment holding

Capital raising
(debt issuing)

Capitai raising
(debt issuing)

Capitat raising
{debt issuing)

Capital raising
(debt issuing)

Project investments

Bank holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Capital raising

(debt issuing)

Capital raising
(debt issuing)

Capital raising
(debt issuing)

80 80 Aircraft leasing

75 75 Investment holding

100 100  Investment holding
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50.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)

Name of entity

China Cinda (2020} |
Management Limited

Mankind Investment Limited

Reca Investment Limited

Cinda International High
Grade Fund A.L.P.

High Grade (HK) Investment
Management Limited
CCAM Capital Limited
Cocina International Limited
CC Distressed Asset Management
Cayman GP Limited
Innotek Resources Limited
Sunkits Resources Limited
Heroic Season Limited
Summer 610 Limited
JD Hecate Limited
JD Elan Yorktown Limited
International High Grade Fund B. LP
Cinda International HGB
Investment (UK) Limited
Cinda Agriculture Investment Limited
Voyage Fortune Limited
Champion Alliance
Development Limited

Cyan Hill Portfolic Holding Limited

Cinda 610 Lexington Holdings LLC
Cinda 610 Lexington LP LLC

Cindat OZRE Credit Limited

Cindat OZRE Credit LLC

Place/country
of incorporation

British Virgin
Islands

British Virgin
Islands

British Virgin
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

Hong Kong
The Cayman
Islands

British Virgin
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

British Virgin
Islands

British Virgin
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

United Kingdom
The Cayman
Islands

British Virgin
Islands

British Virgin
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

United States
United States

The Cayman
Islands

United States

Paid up/
registered
share issued capital

US$10,000 ordinary
shares

US$1 ordinary share

US$1 ordinary share

US$1 ordinary share

HK$100

US$1 ordinary share

US$1 ordinary share

US$50,000 ordinary
shares

US$1 ordinary share

US$1 ordinary share

US$100 ordinary
shares

US$1 ordinary share

US$50,000 ordinary

shares

US$50,000 ordinary
shares

US$770,000,000

US$734,300,037

US$734,300,037

US$1 ordinary share

LiS$50,000 ordinary
shares

US$1 ordinary share

US$1 ordinary share
US$1 ordinary share

US$1 ordinary share

US$1 ordinary share
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2024

Proportion ownership

interest held by the Company (%)

Direct Indirect

2023 2024 2023

100 100 - -
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - - 100
- - - 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- N 100 100
- - - 100
- - - 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - - 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 99 99
- - 99 99
- - 100 100
. - - 100

Principal activities
Capital raising
(debt issuing)

Investment in

securities

Investment hoiding

Project investments

Project investments

Investment holding

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project Investments

Investment holding

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments
Project investments

Project investments

Project investments
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50.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)

Name of entity

Och-Ziff Real Estate Credit Fund L.P.

Cindat Credit Opportunities Fund I, L.P.

Cindat Halo investment Limited
COFI Espresso Limited

Cindat Nephthys Holding Limited
Cindat WT1 Portfolio Call Limited
Cindat WT call LLC

Deita Portfolio Group

Holdings 2 Limited

Cinda Sino-Rock Investment
(Cayman) Limited Partnership

Cinda Sino-Rock International
Energy Company Limited

JD Cinda Inti Elan Yorktown
Holdings LP

JD Capital Inti Excelsior Parc
Holdings LP

Trendy Win Holdings Limited

Cindat Delta Portfolio Limited

Bountiful State Limited

Chang An Limited

Cinda Leasing (HK) Co., Limited

Hope Rosy Limited

Novel Sunrise Investments Limited

Vantage Beauty (HK) Limited

Vantage Beauty Limited

Harvest Breeze Company Limited

Alliance Light Limited

Crown Wealth Development Limited

Place/country
of incorporation
United States

The Cayman
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

The Cayman
Istands

The Cayman
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

isle of Man
The Cayman
Islands

British Virgin
Istands

United States

United States

British Virgin
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

British Virgin
islands

The Cayman
Islands

Hong Kong

British Virgin
Islands

British Virgin
Islands

Hong Kong

The Cayman
Islands

The Cayman
Islands

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Paid up/

registered

share issued capital
US$1 ordinary share

US$50,000 ordinary
share

US$50,000 ordinary
share

US$50,000 ordinary
share

US$1 ordinary share
US$50,000 ordinary
share

US$50,000 ordinary
share

GBP$1 ordinary share
US$50,000 ordinary
share

US$50,000 ordinary
share

US$15,306,122
ordinary share

UsS$30,612,245
ordinary share

US$61 ordinary
shares US$39
preferred shares

US$1 ordinary share

US$10,000 ordinary

US$50,000 ordinary
shares

HK$100

US$1 ordinary share

US$12 ordinary

US$1 ordinary share

US$1 ordinary share

US$1 ordinary share

HK$10,000 ordinary
shares, 500
Preferred Shares

HK$10,000 ordinary
shares
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Proportion ownership

interest held by the Company (%)

Direct Indirect
2024 2023 2024 2023
i - - 100
- - 9 99
- - - 100
- - 100 100
- - - 100
- - 100 100
) - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 91 o1
- - 100 100
. - 98 98
i - %8 98
i - - 61
5 - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 89 89
- - 100 100
. - - 100
. . - 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 )

Principal activities

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Project investments

Investment holding

Project investments

Project investments

Investment holding

Investment holding

Project investments

Project investments

Investment holding

Project investments

Project investments

Investment holding

Investment holding
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50.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)

Name of entity

ER@EEEE GRYD FRAH

TR 7B G AR R IR A F]

FHAGEEERAHIRAR

B A T TP ER A7 PR 22 5)

B el SRR Ik
ol TR GO

FUH APl TR A R 2 )

FM SE LT B R 2

RN A I Sl A7 PR 2y o)

TRUITIT 42 B8 FR R AU A1 IR 2]

DRYI 2 B Z e b
BAFRA

FREEREERBUEE G
ol (&K

HIT A SRR B
Gk il (AR &0

EH R EER T
Stk e CHRETO

TRt AL F R R A 2 A

Place/country
of incorporation

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

Paid up/
registered

share issued capital

RMB424,195,470
registered capital

RMB110,000,000
registered capital

RMB 10,000,000
registered capital

RMBS5,000,000
registered capital

RMB10,010,000
registered capitat

RMB10,000,000
registered capital

RMB1,000,000
registered capital

RMB202,000,000
registered capital

RMB100,010,000
registered capital

RMB20,830,000
registered capital

RMB491,000,000
registered capital

RMB151,500,000
registered capital

RMB10,100,000
registered capital

RMB300,000
registered capital
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Proportion ownership
interest held by the Company (%)
Direct Indirect
2024 2023 2024 2023

- - 100 100
- - 100 100
. - 10 100
- - 100 100
i - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
. - 00 100
. - 100 100
- - 99 99
- - 95 95
- -

Principal activities

Equity investment
and investment
consuitancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
consultancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
consultancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
consultancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
consultancy
services

Property
management
and agency

Property
management
and agency

Equity investment
and investment
consultancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
consultancy
services

Equity investment
and investment

consultancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
constitancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
consuitancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
consultancy
services

Equity investment
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50.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)

Name of entity

EAIEEANEL A4 1B g
Ak (AREHKO

Felfa b iR R R
Gk (R &%

BT S BT PR 2 o]

B R Bl A K
el R A HO

PR R R B
ikl CHIRGEO

EBREHE THE
W= RS HE

[ (5 $E (T 15 1E VLR A = B
fEfEfEHE e

IR T i R AR
Akl CHRAHO

MR (R HIRAR

R R (R A

BB L HRITHR 2T

EEEERT (READ TR

IR RTEERA A

B AL TS HE AR 27

HEFLRT (PR ARAA

ol 7R T L ) 7 R )

Place/country
of incorporation

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

The PRC

British Virgin
Islands

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

The PRC

Hong Kong

Paid up/
registered
share issued capital

RMB201,000,000
registered capital

RMB52,050,000
registered capital

RMB100,000
registered capital

RMB359,000,000
registered capital

RMB1,001,000,000
registered capital

RMB450,000,000
registered capital

RMB500,000,000
registered capital

RMB267,800,000
registered capital

US$1 ordinary share

HK$10,000
ordinary share

HK$3,144,517,000
registered capital

HK$50,000
registered capital

HK$3,050,000
registered capital

HK$3,000,000
registered capital

RMB9,500,000,000
registered capital

HK$22,000,000
registered capital
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Proportion ownership

interest heid by the Company (%)

Direct Indirect
2024 2023 2024 2023

. - 100 100
- - 99 99
- - 100 100
- . 99 99
) - 100 100
- - - 100
) - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
- - 100 100
. - 100 100
) - 100 100
. - 100 100
- - 100 100

Principal activities

Equity investment
and investment

consultancy
services

Equity investment
and investment

consultancy
services

Property
management
and agency

Equity investment
and investment
consultancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
consultancy
services

Equity investment

and investment
consultancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
consuitancy
services

Equity investment
and investment
consultancy
services

Investment holding

Investment holding

Provision of
banking services

Nominee services

Investment agency

Trustee services

Provision of
banking services

Provision of
insurance broker
consultancy
services
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50.

51.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND CONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)

The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests as at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023:

Proportion of

ownership
interests
Place of and voting
incorporation/ rights held by Loss
principal non-controlling allocated to non- Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary place of business interests controlling interests controiling interests
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
% % HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Jade Aviation, LLC The Cayman 20 20 11,612 17,248 134,114 156,573
Islands/Ireland
Zhongchang International Hong Kong 25 25 (39,399) (26,986) 293,706 306,146
Holdings Group Limited
Other subsidiaries with N/A N/A N/A (1,529) (54,410) (1,721) (7,304)

non-controlling interests

{29,316) (64,148) 426,099 455,415

INTERESTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES

Nature of interests

An entity shall disclose qualitative and quantitative information about its interests in unconsolidated
structured entities, including, but not limited to, the nature, purpose, size and activities of the structured
entity and how the structured entity is financed.

if an entity has sponsored an unconsolidated structured entity for which it does not provide information
required by nature of risks (e.g. because it does not have an interest in the entity at the reporting date),
the entity shall disclose:

a.

b.

how it has determined which structured entities it has sponsored;

income from those structured entities during the reporting period, including a description of
the types of income presented; and

the carrying amount (at the time of transfer) of all assets transferred to those structured
entities during the reporting period.

Nature of risks
An entity shall disclose in tabular format, unless another format is more appropriate, a summary of:

a.

the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities recognised in its financial statements relating
to its interests in unconsolidated structured entities.

the line items in the statement of financial position in which those assets and liabilities are
recognised.

the amount that best represents the entity's maximum exposure to loss from its interests in
unconsolidated structured entities, including how the maximum exposure to loss is
determined. If an entity cannot quantify its maximum exposure to loss from its interests in
unconsolidated structured entities it shall disclose that fact and the reasons.
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51.

INTERESTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED STRUCTURED ENTITIES (continued)

Nature of risks (continued)

An entity shall disclose in tabular format, unless another format is more appropriate, a summary of:
(continued)

d.

a comparison of the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the entity that refate to its
interests in unconsolidated structured entities and the entity's maximum exposure to loss from
those entities.

If during the reporting period an entity has, without having a contractual obligation to do so, provided
financial or other support to an unconsolidated structured entity in which it previously had or currently
has an interest (for example, purchasing assets of or instruments issued by the structured entity), the

entity shall disclose:

a.

the type and amount of support provided, including situations in which the entity assisted the
structured entity in obtaining financial support; and the reasons for providing the support.

An entity shall disclose any current intentions to provide financial or other support to an
unconsolidated structured entity, including intentions to assist the structured entity in obtaining

financial support.

The Group is principally involved with structured entities through financial investments. These
structured entities generally purchase assets through financing. The Group determines
whether or not to consolidate these structured entities depending on whether the Group has
control over them. The unconsolidated structured entities include private equity funds, trust
products, asset management plans and mutual funds, etc. The interests held by the Group
in the unconsolidated structured entities are set out as below.

As at 31 December 2024, the maximum exposure to risk and the book value of relevant
investments of the Group rising from the interests held in directly invested structured entities
that are sponsored by the Group or the third party financial institutions are set out as below:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Maximum Maximum
Carrying exposure Carrying exposure
amount to risk amount to risk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss 18,766,091 18,766,091 25,539,389 25,539,389
Interest in associates
and joint ventures 1,392,695 1,392,695 1,314,794 1,314,794

20,158,786 20,158,786 26,854,183 26,854,183
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52.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the reporting period

is as follows:

ASSETS

Deposits with banks and financial institutions
Loans and advances to customers

Financial Investments
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Other assets

LIABILITIES

Bank and other borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Other liabilities

NET ASSETS

EQUITY

Share capital
Accumulated losses
Reserves (Note)

TOTAL EQUITY

...........................................................

Huang Qiang
Director

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
2,186,823 2,420,710
2,383,449 2,881,594
232,875 -
68,775,099 88,775,162
100,000 114,000
14,365 13,383
54,014 71,343
64,587,429 65,328,906
138,334,054 139,605,108
45,482,884 41,983,755
10,184 12,643
63,933 82,250
88,697,823 91,291,783
134,264,824 133,370,431
4,069,230 6,234,677
24,975,487 24,97<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>